



City of Keene  
*New Hampshire*

**FINANCE, ORGANIZATION  
AND PERSONNEL COMMITTEE  
AGENDA  
Council Chambers B  
January 25, 2018  
6:30 PM**

Mitchell H. Greenwald  
Carl B. Jacobs  
Terry M. Clark  
Thomas F. Powers  
Bettina A. Chadbourne

- 
1. Acceptance of Donation - St. James Thrift Shop - Parks, Recreation and Facilities Department
  2. Acceptance of Donation - Keene Rotary Club - Parks, Recreation and Facilities Department
  3. Acceptance of Donation - Ambulance Child Restraint System - Fire Department
  4. Acceptance of Cheshire County 2017 Funds - Youth Services
  5. Acceptance of Donations - Library Renovation Project - Campaign Manager for the Next Chapter
  6. Library Construction Contract #2 - Parks, Recreation and Facilities Department
  7. General Assistance Guidelines - Human Services Department  
Resolution R-2018-04
  8. Councilors Greenwald and Richards - CIP Adjustments Due to Receipt of State of New Hampshire Grant Funds
  9. Authority to Borrow - Clean Water State Revolving Fund - Public Works Department
  10. Municipal Solar Array 350-400 Marlboro Street - Public Works Department
  11. Construction and Engineering Services Change Orders - Babbidge Reservoir Dam Improvements Project - Public Works Department
  12. A Resolution Relating to the Acceptance of an Additional Appropriation of Highway Block

Grant Funds  
Resolution R-2017-44

Non Public Session  
Adjournment



City of Keene, N.H.  
*Transmittal Form*

January 19, 2018

**TO:** Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee

**FROM:** Andy Bohannon, Parks, Recreation and Facilities Director

**THROUGH:** Elizabeth A. Fox, Acting City Manager

**ITEM:** 1.

**SUBJECT:** Acceptance of Donation - St. James Thrift Shop - Parks, Recreation and Facilities Department

---

**RECOMMENDATION:**

Move that the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommend that the City Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to accept a donation of \$750.00 from the St. James Thrift Shop and that the money is used by the City's Martin Luther King Jr. / Jonathan Daniels Committee for its annual programming.

**BACKGROUND:**

For many years the St. James Episcopal Church Thrift Shop has made an annual donation towards the programming effort of the Martin Luther King Jr. / Jonathan Daniels Committee. This year's donation is \$750.00. This will greatly assist the Committee with future programs that will focus on the celebration of diversity and social justice.



City of Keene, N.H.  
*Transmittal Form*

January 18, 2018

**TO:** Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee

**FROM:** Andy Bohannon, Parks, Recreation and Facilities Director

**THROUGH:** Elizabeth A. Fox, Acting City Manager

**ITEM:** 2.

**SUBJECT:** Acceptance of Donation - Keene Rotary Club - Parks, Recreation and Facilities Department

---

**RECOMMENDATION:**

The Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City Council authorize the City Manager to do all things necessary to accept a donation of \$5,000.00 from the Keene Rotary Club for the purposes of creating a pocket park at 238 Church Street.

**BACKGROUND:**

Last September, the Friends of Keene Open Space submitted a letter through the PLD Committee for the purposes of creating a pocket park at 238 Church Street. This property was acquired by the City through a FEMA grant process relating to multiple floods on the east side.

As a result of the grant, the land is to remain as green space, therefore the Friends inquired through the Parks division about creating a neighborhood pocket park. A design was created and reviewed by City staff, and then an estimate was created for a few benches and trees. After City Council approval, the Friends began their fundraising efforts.

A connection was made with the Keene Rotary Club that was looking for a project to help impact the community and parks programs. The idea of helping create this pocket park and have members volunteer their time for the installation and upkeep of garden beds was an appealing partnership. The Keene Rotary Club matched the donation goal and looks forward to helping to build an improved green space for a neighborhood on the east side of Keene.



City of Keene, N.H.  
*Transmittal Form*

January 17, 2018

**TO:** Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee

**FROM:** Mark F. Howard, Fire Chief

**THROUGH:** Elizabeth A. Fox, Acting City Manager

**ITEM:** 3.

**SUBJECT:** Acceptance of Donation - Ambulance Child Restraint System - Fire Department

---

**RECOMMENDATION:**

That the City Council authorizes the City Manager to do all things necessary to accept one Ambulance Child Restraint system from the Child Passenger Safety Program at Injury Prevention Center- DHMC.

**BACKGROUND:**

The Keene Fire Department provides emergency medical care and transport for all ages. This donation of one Ambulance Child Restraint (ACR) system is used for the safe transport of sick and injured pediatric patients. The ACR system is being donated as part of the Child Passenger Safety Program at Injury Prevention Center- DHMC in partnership with the New Hampshire Office of Highway Safety and the New Hampshire Bureau of Emergency Medical Services. This system will be used when we are transporting pediatric patients (4-99 lbs.) and allows better access for care while increasing the safety of the patient.



City of Keene, N.H.  
*Transmittal Form*

January 4, 2018

**TO:** Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee

**FROM:** Elisabeth Brown, Youth Services Manager

**THROUGH:** Elizabeth A. Dragon, City Manager

**ITEM:** 4.

**SUBJECT:** Acceptance of Cheshire County 2017 Funds - Youth Services

---

**RECOMMENDATION:**

Move that the Finance, Organization, and Personnel Committee recommend that the City Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to accept and administer funds provided by Cheshire County for Youth Services programs.

**BACKGROUND:**

Youth Services was designated a total of \$23,100 in the 2017 Cheshire County budget. The Youth Intervention Program (YIP) was approved for \$15,600 and the Juvenile Court Diversion Program (JCC) for \$7,500. This county money is valuable because it allows these programs to provide services to youth and families that reside outside of the City of Keene but live in the jurisdiction of the 8<sup>th</sup> Circuit Court-District Division-Keene. These programs have been approved in the Cheshire County budget for many years.



City of Keene, N.H.  
*Transmittal Form*

January 17, 2018

**TO:** Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee

**FROM:** Judy Putnam and Dita Englund, Co-Chairs, Next Chapter Campaign Drive

**THROUGH:** Elizabeth A. Fox, Acting City Manager

**ITEM:** 5.

**SUBJECT:** Acceptance of Donations - Library Renovation Project - Campaign Manager for the Next Chapter

---

**RECOMMENDATION:**

That the City Council accepts donations of \$129,905.00 as listed in the Cambridge Trust December 7-31 2017 Donor list (See attached report) to be deposited into the Library Renovation Temporarily Restricted City Trust as part of the Next Chapter Campaign Drive.

**ATTACHMENTS:**

Description

Cambridge Trust December Donor List

**BACKGROUND:**

On June 30, 2015 the City Council authorized the establishment of a Temporarily Restricted City Trust Fund to receive and distribute funds for the Library Renovation Project. The Friends and Library Trustees put in place the Campaign Committee with Judith Putnam and Alfreida (Dita) Englund as Co-Campaign Chairs and Ernest Hebert as the Honorary Chair.

The attached Cambridge Trust report contains the donations received December 7- 31. December 1-6 gifts were accepted by the City Council in December. Gifts from donors who wish to remain anonymous directed their donation to the Friends of the Library and are included in the Cambridge Trust Bank reports as part of the Friends of the Library donation. Donors have received acknowledgement of their donations. Julie Dickson is the part time Campaign Gift Processing Administrator.

Thanks to generous donations from individuals, foundations, and corporations, the capital campaign has reached its \$5,000,000 goal.

As the funds are received, they will be brought forth on a regular basis. After acceptance of the funds by City Council, the reports then go the Trustees of the City held Trust funds for approval and acceptance. This process was reviewed by the City Finance Department, the Library Trustees, the Friends of the Library Board, the City Attorney and Terry Knowles, Assistant Director, Charitable Trust Unit of the Department of the Attorney General.

Cambridge Trust Company  
City of Keene Library Renovation Restricted Trust  
Posted Transaction Detail  
As of date: 12/07/2017 To 12/31/2017  
Position Type: Settled

<b>Transaction Description</b>	<b>Posting Date</b>	<b>Principal Cash</b>
GIFT FROM JULIANA BERGERON	12/7/2017	250.00
GIFT FROM GREGORY & JENNIFER ALEXANDER	12/8/2017	2,500.00
GIFT FROM DREW & CAROL LANDRY	12/8/2017	1,500.00
GIFT FROM JOHN & CONSTANCE SCHLEGELMILCH	12/12/2017	1,500.00
GIFT FROM CHRISTINE CURTIS	12/12/2017	25.00
GIFT FROM CHARLES PRIGGE	12/14/2017	2,000.00
GIFT FROM RICHARD TALBOT	12/15/2017	500.00
GIFT FROM JOHN SCHUERMAN	12/15/2017	100.00
GIFT FROM CHRISTINE CURTIS	12/18/2017	25.00
GIFT FROM FRIENDS OF THE KPL	12/18/2017	500.00
GIFT FROM LYNN AND KEN BERGMAN	12/19/2017	100.00
RECEIVED FROM CHRISTINE CURTIS	12/22/2017	25.00
GIFT FROM MICHAEL CHELSTOWSKI	12/26/2017	2,500.00
GIFT FROM GREGG & JULIE TEWKSBURY	12/26/2017	500.00
GIFT FROM GREG ENGLUND & ANNE MURPHY	12/26/2017	100.00
GIFT FROM THOMAS EWING	12/26/2017	3,000.00
GIFT FROM THE GALLUP FUND	12/26/2017	100,000.00
GIFT FROM THE MELANSON COMPANY INC	12/28/2017	10,000.00
GIFT FROM TODD AND KAREN GRAY	12/29/2017	500.00
RECEIVED FROM ED TOMEY & MAICH GARDNER	12/29/2017	1,250.00
RECEIVED FROM SHAWN & JIM ROUSMANIERE	12/29/2017	2,500.00
GIFT FROM JOHN BRADSHAW	12/29/2017	100.00
GIFT FROM NH MASONIC CHARITABLE FOUNDATION	12/29/2017	430.00
<b>Donations 12/7/17 - 12/31/17</b>		<b>129,905.00</b>





City of Keene, N.H.  
*Transmittal Form*

January 18, 2018

**TO:** Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee

**FROM:** Andy Bohannon, Parks, Recreation and Facilities Director

**THROUGH:** Elizabeth A. Fox, Acting City Manager

**ITEM:** 6.

**SUBJECT:** Library Construction Contract #2 - Parks, Recreation and Facilities Department

---

**RECOMMENDATION:**

Move that the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommend that the City Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to negotiate and execute a sole source professional services contract with Engleberth Construction Inc. for construction services required for the Library Renovation project for \$623,317.93.

**BACKGROUND:**

The Library Renovation Project is divided into two components delineated by the New Market Tax Credits (NMTC) acquired through Monadnock Economic Development Corporation (MEDC). Funding directly through the NMTC can only be applied to the Library Annex and the Connector component. All additional work for the project related to the main Library will need to be completed by funding through the fundraising efforts of the Trustees and Friends of the Keene Public Library, and refunds from the closing costs associated with the NMTC's. Last August, the Council was made aware of the two contracts and the work associated with each; City staff held presenting Contract #2 waiting for the project closing to occur for a full understanding of available funding sources.

Currently, Engleberth Construction Inc. is under the management of MEDC as the construction management firm for the Annex and connector. In order to consolidate services and fees, the City is looking to sole source a contract with Engleberth for the remaining work that is directly related toward the Library Renovation project, but does not fall under the umbrella of the NMTC's. It is both efficient and cost effective to keep the same team in place and coordinate the work with that happening in the Annex and the Connector. During the design and cost estimating phase, all Contract #2 items were specified to be included as add alternates to the project. Plans and specifications were competed as part of overall design package.

These services include the following:

	<b>Costs</b>
Base Project Value	\$ 170,324.00
Alt 2.2a Flooring replacement 2nd level youth	\$ 84,865.55
Alt2.2b Flooring replacement Main Level	\$ 149,782.71
Alt 2.2c Flooring replacement Basement level	\$ 40,753.79
Alt 2.3 Window Repairs	\$ 58,592.53
Alt 2.2d Flooring replacement 2nd level non-youth	\$ 17,581.10
Alt 2.4 Plumbing upgrades	\$ 31,512.10
Alt 2.2e Flooring replacement -3rd level	\$ 32,729.16
Alt 2.5 Light Fixtures	\$ 37,176.99
	<b>\$ 623,317.93</b>
Tappe Architects design work for add alternatives in Main Library	\$ 12,500.00
City of Keene - Building permits	\$ 1,080.00
	<b>\$ 636,897.93</b>

This work and associated costs has been thoroughly reviewed by City staff, Steve Horton, Project Manager retained by MEDC, Engleberth Construction Inc., and the design team from Tappé Architects who created the construction documents.

It should be noted that Engleberth Construction Inc. was hired by MEDC using a purchasing process similar to the City's. In addition, several city staff were involved in the review and selection process. The same process was used to obtain project cost associated with both contracts.

Additional fees, as shown on the bottom of the chart, above related to Contract #2 are associated with the design work from Tappé Architects and receiving the building permits through the Code Enforcement office. These fees will be supported by the fundraising efforts of the Library Trustees and Friends of the Keene Public Library.

Funding for the work is included in the project. Sources of funds are:

1. Donations (\$76,897.93) currently in the Cambridge Trust Capital Campaign account.
2. Funds (\$560,000) paid to the project during the NMTC closing as a reimbursement for architect fees, as noted in the memo to City Council dated August 31, 2017.



City of Keene, N.H.  
*Transmittal Form*

January 5, 2018

**TO:** Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee

**FROM:** Elizabeth C. Sayre, Human Services Manager

**THROUGH:** Elizabeth A. Dragon, City Manager and Steve Thornton, Finance Director

**ITEM:** 7.

**SUBJECT:** General Assistance Guidelines - Human Services Department

---

**RECOMMENDATION:**

That the Keene City Council rescind Resolution R-2008-13, and accepts the attached resolution authorizing the Human Services Department to implement the revised General Assistance Guidelines.

**ATTACHMENTS:**

Description

Human Services Guidelines\_red lined version

Resolution R-2018-04

**BACKGROUND:**

New Hampshire state law, Chapter 165, requires each municipality in the state to provide general assistance to those individuals and families who lack adequate resources and to develop guidelines to administer said assistance. For the City of Keene, the Human Services Department is responsible for overseeing general assistance, which includes providing short-term emergency assistance for basic needs housing/shelter, food, utilities, and medicine.

On August 18, 2011 the City Council adopted the revised “City of Keene General Assistance Guidelines”. Since those revisions, there have been revisions to RSA 165 which necessitated revising the City of Keene General Assistance Guidelines.

Attached is the proposed updated General Assistance Guidelines for the City of Keene, which includes revisions that reflect current law and practices. Modifications to language and clarification of procedures throughout the document as well as adding the statute related to the specific guideline were made. The importance of applying for and utilizing all resources that would reduce and/or eliminate the need for General Assistance was emphasized in several sections of the Guidelines.

Significant changes are highlighted in red and are as follows:

1. Page 9: Section VI, C – added Workfare language, added #11 and #12 relating to how resources are used and rental payment requirement for persons receiving state assistance.
2. Page 11: Section VI, DE home Visits, changed time when they could occur and added #3.
3. Page 13: Section XIII – removed second paragraph that listed 6 and 12 month’s suspensions which were ruled in NH Supreme Court to be unlawful.

4. Page 17: Section X, C 5 – eliminated the second sentence relating to state benefits and eligibility for local assistance. It was ruled discriminatory by NH Supreme Court.
5. Page 20: Section X, E e – added section related to number of times a person may apply for first month's rent in a twelve month period.
6. Page 28: Section XII B – reworked to reflect current Memorandum of Understanding with Southwestern Community Services regarding homeless services for City of Keene.
7. Page 29: Section XV – Changed title to more accurately reflect contents of section. Reworked language to be more uniform with current law and practices.
8. Page 33: Section XVI Fair Hearings – changed to give option of Fair Hearing Officer or Fair Hearing Board to more easily comply with RSA 165 time line for Hearings.
9. Page 33: Section XVI E 5 – inserted repayment schedule.
10. Page 36: Section XVII Liens – added second paragraph to allow City Manager option to release Lien if it is determined to be in the best interest of the City or the assisted person.

**CITY OF KEENE  
NEW HAMPSHIRE**



**GENERAL ASSISTANCE  
GUIDELINES**

**CITY OF KEENE  
HUMAN SERVICES  
GENERAL ASSISTANCE GUIDELINES**

**Table of Contents**

I.	Mission, Purpose, and Authority	.....	3
II.	Severability	.....	3
III.	Confidentiality of Information	.....	4
IV.	Role of City Council and Human Services	.....	4
V.	Maintenance of Records	.....	4 – 5
VI.	Application Process	.....	5 – 11
VII.	Verification of Information	.....	11 – 13
VIII.	Termination and Prosecution RSA 641-3	.....	13
IX.	Disbursements	.....	13 – 15
X.	Determination of Eligibility and Amount	.....	15 – 26
XI.	Non-Residents	.....	26 – 27
XII.	Homeless Procedure	.....	27 – 28
XIII.	City of Keene Workfare Program	.....	28 – 29
XIV.	Burials and Cremations	.....	30 - 31
XV.	Notice of Action	.....	31 – 34
XVI.	Fair Hearings	.....	34 – 37
XVII.	Liens	.....	37 – 38
XVIII.	Recovery and Billing from Government Unit of Residence, Relatives, or Other	.....	38
XIX.	Application of Rents Paid by the City of Keene	.....	38 – 39
XX.	Immigration Laws	.....	39
XXI.	Human Services Signature Requirements for Assistance	.....	39
XXII.	Interpretation and Applicability of Guidelines	.....	39
XXIII.	Definitions	.....	40 – 45
XXIV.	Appendix A	.....	46
XXV.	ESF-6, Mass Care, Housing, and Human Services	.....	46 – 54

**City of Keene**  
**General Assistance Guidelines**

**I. MISSION, PURPOSE, AND AUTHORITY**

**MISSION**

The duty of the City of Keene Human Services Department (hereinafter “Human Services”) is to provide short-term emergency assistance to qualified applicants for the essentials of daily living in a timely and economical manner.

In accordance with established General Assistance Guidelines (hereinafter the “Guidelines”), Human Services makes referrals to programs that aid individuals and families to return to a state of financial self-sufficiency.

**PURPOSE**

The intent and purpose of these Guidelines is to regulate the provision of General Assistance within the City of Keene (hereinafter the “City”), through the administration and enforcement of the Guidelines by Human Services, to protect the welfare of the citizens, residents, and taxpayers of the community.

**AUTHORITY**

In accordance with the laws of the State of New Hampshire, and under the authority of the New Hampshire Revised Statutes Annotated, Chapter 165 (Aid to Assisted Persons), Section 1, II, authorizing the City Council to adopt written guidelines for General Assistance for the City, the following Guidelines are adopted to regulate General Assistance in the City.

**II. SEVERABILITY**

If any provision of these Guidelines is held at law to be invalid or inapplicable to any person or circumstances, the remaining provisions will continue in full force and effect.

**The Guidelines contained herein are intended to be advisory and, as such, Human Services staff shall have sole discretion towards the enforcement, application, or variance of any of the Guidelines contained herein. Human Services shall not exercise this discretion unreasonably.**

### **III. CONFIDENTIALITY OF INFORMATION**

Information given by or about an applicant/recipient of General Assistance is confidential and privileged and is not a public record and will be maintained under the provisions of RSA 91-A. Such information will not be published, released, or discussed with any individual or agency without written permission of the applicant/recipient except when disclosure may be required by law, or when necessary to carry out the purposes of RSA 165.

### **IV. ROLE OF CITY COUNCIL AND HUMAN SERVICES**

The responsibility of the day-to-day administration of General Assistance is vested in Human Services. Human Services staff and the Human Services Director shall administer General Assistance in accordance with the written, approved City of Keene General Assistance Guidelines. Keene City Council is responsible for the adoption of the Guidelines relative to General Assistance.

### **V. MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS**

- A. Human Services will, as required by law, keep complete paper and/or electronic records concerning the number of applicants given assistance and the cost for such support. Separate case records are established and maintained for each individual, family, or household applying for General Assistance.
- B. The purposes for keeping such records are to:
  - 1. Provide a valid basis of accounting for expenditures of City funds;
  - 2. Support decisions concerning the applicant's/recipient's eligibility;
  - 3. Assure availability of information if the applicant/recipient seeks administrative or judicial review of the decision by Human Services;
  - 4. Maintain accurate statistical information;
  - 5. Provide a complete history of applicants'/recipients' needs and assistance to facilitate Human Services with ongoing case management and in referring applicants/recipients to appropriate agencies; and,
  - 6. Aid in the determination of residence under RSA 21:6-a, and to allow a smooth transition of information if the recipient is transferred to another legally liable unit.



C. Human Services will maintain case records containing the following information:

1. Completed written application for assistance including signed authorizations by the applicants/recipients allowing Human Services to release, obtain, or verify any pertinent information in the course of determining eligibility for assistance;
2. Written grounds for pending, approving, or denying an application contained in a Notice of Decision;
3. Narrative history recording the need for assistance, the results of investigations of the circumstances of the applicant(s)/recipient(s)/referrals(s), and any change(s) in status;
4. ~~Case Balance Report~~ Summary of Account report which contains complete data concerning the type, amount, and dates of assistance given either in hard paper copy or in electronic format; and,
5. Information regarding applicant(s)/recipient(s)/referral(s) not relevant for determining eligibility will be confidential.

Access to information that is confidential and/or protected under RSA 165 and not a matter of public record is limited to Human Services and authorized City personnel.

## VI. APPLICATION PROCESS

### A. Right to Apply

1. Anyone may apply for General Assistance by appearing in person or through an authorized representative and by completing a written application. Applicant(s)/recipient(s) is/are seen by appointment.
2. If more than one adult resides in a household, each is required to appear at Human Services to apply for assistance. Each adult household member must sign all required documents. Unsigned documents constitute an incomplete application.
3. Unrelated adults in an applicant's residential unit, who do not meet the definition of household as defined in these Guidelines, are required to apply separately if assistance is needed.
4. Human Services is not required to accept an application for General Assistance from any applicant/recipient who is subject to a suspension pursuant to these Guidelines. The applicant/recipient who contests a determination of continuing noncompliance with the Guidelines may request a Fair Hearing. **An applicant/recipient who has been suspended for at least six (6) months due to noncompliance may file a new application.**

### B. Responsibilities of Human Services

When application is made for General Assistance, Human Services will inform the applicant of:

1. The requirement of submitting a completed written application containing all necessary information, including releases and signature(s) allowing Human Services to contact all necessary agencies for investigation and verification. **If needed, Human Services staff will assist with completing the application;**
2. The requirement that other adults in the household are expected to sign releases and other pertinent form(s);
3. The eligibility requirements, including a general description of the Guidelines;
4. The fact that an uncompleted application and/or failure to attend any determination of eligibility appointment(s) will be grounds for denial of assistance;
5. The need to screen applicants based on emergency such as no place to stay, no heat (during heating months), no electricity, and no ability to purchase life-threatening medications. Screening means that applicants who are not in an emergency situation (whose difficulties, if not addressed today, would not jeopardize the health or safety of any family member) as determined by written application or oral interview or both, would: (a) be asked to return another day, (b) be referred to an agency or resource which will provide the assistance needed, (c) be given an appointment date and time to return for an interview. Applicant(s) requiring emergency assistance may be referred to agencies or resources who provide emergency, temporary assistance, that will meet the needs of the applicant(s);
6. Applicant(s) responsibility to provide documentation of all claims, such as identification for all household members, receipts for expenditures, documentation of employment, documentation of application for other programs/services which would reduce or eliminate the need for General Assistance;
7. Joint responsibility of Human Services and the applicant/recipient for exploring facts concerning eligibility, needs and resources, and the **necessity** requirement of applying for or taking advantage of other resources, which could reduce or eliminate the need for General Assistance;
8. Human Services utilizes the same standards for pharmaceutical assistance as those established by federal and NHDHHS Medicare and Medicaid Services. An applicant/recipient requesting pharmaceutical assistance will be directed to their medical provider for medication assistance and to apply for medication assistance programs. **All applicants will be required to apply for NHHPP and/or through the**

**Affordable Care Act for healthcare insurance coverage.** Applicant/recipient will request their prescribing physician to prescribe the least costly generic prescription drug from the NH Medicaid Preferred Drug List, which has been proven effective treatment for most patients with their condition. Exceptions require a written statement from the prescribing physician explaining why a certain prescription drug is medically necessary;

9. The type of verifications needed by the applicant/recipient, as well as compliance date(s)/appointment date(s). Loss of assistance may occur when the applicant/recipient fails to comply;
10. The fact that an investigation will be conducted in order to further substantiate facts and statements as presented by the applicant/recipient and this investigation will take place prior to, during, and subsequent to the applicant's/recipient's receipt of General Assistance;
11. It is the applicant's/recipient's responsibility to notify Human Services of any change in circumstances and/or household status which would affect eligibility, and for accurately and truthfully reporting all facts necessary in determining eligibility;
12. The fact that Human Services may make home visits in the least intrusive manner, if the applicant/recipient is unable to come to the office and when no other alternative is available, and/or to verify information, at the discretion of Human Services;
13. The **possible** need to relocate to more affordable housing based on the applicant's/recipient's ~~expenses which should not exceed~~ anticipated income **if deemed necessary by the Human Services official. Every effort will be made to maintain applicants/recipients in their own housing unless it is clear that to do so would probably require a continuing subsidy from the Department.** Decisions are based on anticipated, probable income;
14. The necessity of referral to a shelter for families/individuals currently without housing and/or income;
15. The statutory requirement of placing a lien on any real property owned by the applicant/recipient, or any settlements, for any assistance given, except for verifiable good cause. The applicant/recipient will be made aware of the lien in that it will be noted on the Notice of decision and signed by the applicant/recipient. The lien document will be recorded at the Cheshire County Registry of Deeds pursuant to RSA 165:28. However, neither the absence of the applicant's/recipient's signature on the Notice of Decision nor the failure to

- record such lien document shall diminish the validity of the lien. Human Services also has the right to place liens on civil judgements pursuant to RSA 165:28-a;
16. The requirement of reimbursement of all assistance when returned to an income status and when the income is more than that required to provide a reasonable subsistence compatible with decency and health;
  17. The requirement for anyone eligible for and receiving General Assistance to participate in City of Keene Workfare Program if physically and mentally capable;
  18. The applicant's/recipient's right to review the Guidelines, and responsibilities as set forth in the Guidelines;
  19. The New Hampshire Voluntary Quit Law and Liability of Relative Law, the right to a Fair Hearing and the manner in which such a hearing may be obtained;
  20. The fact that Human Services may, at their discretion, request the Code Enforcement Department to inspect the place of abode of an applicant/recipient before granting assistance under these Guidelines. If inspection results determine, that the abode is unfit for human habitation or that occupation is in violation of any law, ordinance, or administrative regulation of the City then assistance for rent continued occupancy will be denied; and
  21. The need to reapply each time assistance is requested and that General Assistance will not automatically continue. Applicant(s)/recipient(s) is/are required to immediately apply for and utilize any benefits and resources, public or private, that would reduce or eliminate the need for General Assistance within seven (7) days of initial application and/or eligibility appointment.

#### C. Responsibility of Each Applicant/Recipient

At the time of the initial application, and at all times thereafter, the applicant/recipient has the following responsibilities:

1. To provide accurate, complete, current ~~records, and pertinent~~ information to Human Services ~~when requested and access to said records and information concerning needs and resources~~ and the whereabouts and circumstances of relatives who may be responsible under RSA 165:19; RSA 165:1-b; ~~2. To provide the whereabouts and circumstance of relatives who may be responsible under RSA 165:19~~
2. To provide identification and documentation of income and resources of all household members applying for General Assistance, including written medical verification if disability is claimed or a claim of inability to work and any other pertinent information requested;

3. To notify Human Services within seventy-two (72) hours when a change in needs or resources may affect eligibility for continuing assistance;
4. Within seven (7) days of application, to apply for and utilize any benefits or resources, public or private, that will reduce or eliminate the need for General Assistance;
5. To keep all scheduled appointments; if applicant/recipient is more than fifteen (15) minutes late and has not notified Human Services, the applicant/recipient will be considered a no-show and will be eligible for rescheduling within five (5) business days from the missed appointment;
6. To diligently search for employment and provide verification of work search as directed by Human Services official; to be available to accept full-time, or full-time equivalent, work; to accept employment when offered and maintain such employment. Refusal will affect General Assistance;
7. To provide a written doctor's statement if claiming an inability to work due to medical condition;
8. To participate in Workfare, if required, and physically and mentally able;
9. To reimburse all assistance when returned to an income status and when the income is more than that required to provide a reasonable subsistence compatible with decency and health;
10. To diligently work toward Financial Self-Sufficiency through employment and other forms of assistance;
11. While working with the Human Services department, you will be required to use your earned and unearned income for basic needs only; and
12. **Persons receiving income will be expected to pay 30% of their income toward their housing costs for rent and/or mortgage.**

An applicant/recipient shall be denied General Assistance if he/she fails to fulfill any of the responsibilities or requests by the Human Services official as set forth in the General Assistance Guidelines without reasonable and verifiable justification. Additionally, General Assistance may be terminated or suspended for failure to fulfill any of these responsibilities without reasonable and verifiable justification. **Disqualification for General Assistance may occur as set forth in RSA 165:1-b.**

Any person may be denied or terminated from General Assistance in accordance with the City of Keene General Assistance Guidelines and State Law, or may be prosecuted for a criminal offense if he/she by means of intentionally false statements, omissions, misrepresentation, by impersonation or other willfully fraudulent act or device, obtains or attempts to obtain any General Assistance to which he/she is not entitled **(RSA 641:3).**

***NOTE: An applicant/recipient who claims that their money or vouchers were stolen must report these incidents to the appropriate police jurisdiction where the incident occurred. The applicant/recipient will provide written proof that the incident has been reported.***

D. Actions on Applications

1. *Decision*

Unless an application is withdrawn, Human Services shall make a decision concerning the applicant's/recipient's eligibility ~~immediately in the case of emergency, or~~ within five (5) business days after completion of the application process. A written Notice of Decision shall be given in hand, delivered, or mailed on the same day or next business day following the making of the decision. The Notice of Decision shall state: (a) assistance of a specific kind, (b) amount of assistance given, and (c) time period of aid, or that the application has been denied, in whole or in part, with reasons for denial. A decision may also be made to pend an application subject to receipt of specified information from the applicant(s)/recipient(s). The Notice of Decision shall notify the applicant/recipient of conditions for further assistance and their right to a Fair Hearing.

2. *Emergency Assistance*

At the time of initial contact, if the applicant/recipient demonstrates and verifies that an immediate emergency need exists in which the applicant/recipient may suffer loss ~~of a basic necessity of living~~ or imminent threat to life or health (such as loss of shelter, utilities, heat sources in winter, lack of food or medically necessary prescriptions), temporary aid to fill such immediate need shall be given no later than seventy-two (72) hours from the time of the request. Such emergency assistance shall not obligate Human Services to provide further assistance once the application process is completed.

3. *Temporary Assistance*

In circumstances where required records are not available, Human Services may grant temporary approval to an applicant pending receipt of the required documents. Temporary status shall not extend beyond seven (7) days as recorded on the Notice of Decision.

4. *Withdrawn Applications*

An application is deemed withdrawn if:

- a. The applicant has refused to complete the application procedure or has refused to make a good faith effort to provide the required verifications and sufficient information for the completion of the application. If an application is deemed

withdrawn for these reasons, Human Services shall notify the applicant in a written Notice of Decision and document the applicant's file;

- b. The applicant/recipient dies before assistance is rendered;
- c. The applicant avails himself/herself of other resources in place of assistance;
- d. The applicant requests that the application be withdrawn (preferably in writing);

5. *Health and Safety*

Housing units must be in compliance with Chapter 18 of the City's Code of Ordinances ("City Code"), entitled: Property and Housing Safety Standards. In situations where an applicant/recipient reports to Human Services the condition of a dwelling unit to be hazardous or unfit for human habitation, Human Services will make a referral/report to the City's Code Enforcement Department. Pursuant to the City Code, "A hazardous building shall mean any building which because of inadequate maintenance, modifications made in violation of the building or fire code, dilapidation, physical damage, unsanitary condition or abandonment, constitutes a fire hazard, or other hazard to public safety or health. Hazardous condition shall mean any inadequate maintenance, repair or disrepair, modification, physical damage or other condition which constitutes a hazard to public safety or health."

E. Home Visits

A home visit may be made by appointment at the request of an applicant/recipient only when it is medically impossible for the applicant/recipient to apply in person at the office of Human Services.

1. All home visits shall be pre-arranged, and shall take place weekdays between the hours of 8:30 a.m. ~~9:00~~ and 3:30 p.m. ~~5:00~~, and may require the presence of a third party.
2. During the home visit, Human Services may discuss any noticeable applicable housing code violations with the applicant/recipient and will report all violations to proper authorities.
3. All home visits shall be conducted in such a manner as to preserve, to the greatest extent possible, the privacy and dignity of the applicant/recipient.

**VII. VERIFICATION OF INFORMATION**

Any determination or investigation of need or eligibility shall be conducted in a professional manner so as not to violate the privacy or personal dignity of the applicant/recipient.

A. Required Verification(s)

1. Applicant's/recipient's address;
2. Names of persons in applicant's/recipient's household residential or family unit;
3. Picture identification(s), for all adult household members, and social security information of all household members. Immigration and Naturalization Service documentation for applicant(s) and household members, where applicable;
4. Proof of physical custody of children and proof of child support arrangements;
5. Applicant's/recipient's and household income, assets and financial obligations;
6. The physical and mental condition of household members, only when relevant to the receipt of General Assistance, such as ability to work, determination of needs, or referrals to other forms of assistance;
7. Any special circumstances;
8. Applicant's/recipient's former and/or current employment status and availability for employment in the labor market;
9. Utility, housing, and prescription costs; and,
10. Names, addresses, and employment status of individuals potentially liable to the City for reimbursement of General Assistance provided under RSA 165:19.

B. Verification of Records

Verification may be made through records provided by the applicant (for example, birth and marriage certificates, pay stubs, paychecks, rent receipts, expense receipts, bankbooks, etc.) as primary sources. Failure of applicant to bring such records does not affect the responsibility of Human Services to process the application promptly, ~~but the lack of such records may require a denial of the type or amount of assistance requested.~~ Human Services shall inform the applicant in writing what ~~of the necessary~~ records are necessary and the applicant is required to produce these records within seven (7) days ~~The failure of the applicant/recipient to bring such records will have a bearing on eligibility for General Assistance.~~ (RSA 165:1-b II (a)).

C. Other Sources of Verification

Verification may be made through other sources such as relatives, employers, ~~former employers~~ banks, school personnel, and social or government agencies. The cashier of a national bank or a treasurer of a savings and trust company is authorized by law to furnish information regarding amounts deposited to the credit of an applicant/recipient (RSA 165:4).

D. Written Consent of Applicant/Recipient

When information is sought from other sources, Human Services will explain to the applicant/recipient what information is required, how it will be used and the necessity of obtaining it in order to establish eligibility. Before contact is made with any other source,



Human Services will obtain written consent of the applicant/recipient on the written application, unless staff has reasonable grounds to suspect fraud. In the case of suspected fraud, staff will carefully record his/her reasons and actions. The applicant/recipient shall be given an opportunity to explain or clarify suspicious circumstances. **Should the applicant/recipient refuse permission to have Human Services seek further information that is necessary, assistance will be denied for lack of eligibility verification (RSA 165:1 II (b)).**

E. Legally Liable Relatives

Human Services may seek statements from those legally liable relatives and/or persons deemed by New Hampshire law to have financial responsibility to help support the applicant/recipient **(RSA 165:19)**.

**VIII. TERMINATION AND PROSECUTION RSA 641:3**

Misrepresentation of information and/or alteration of documents by applicant(s)/ recipient(s) will result in termination of assistance and prosecution under the provisions of RSA 641:3.

~~The amount of assistance provided will determine the termination period as follows:~~

- ~~1. If the total assistance issued is between \$0 and \$1,000, assistance will be terminated for six (6) months.~~
- ~~2. If total of assistance issued exceeds \$1,000, assistance will be terminated for twelve (12) months.~~

**IX. DISBURSEMENTS**

- A. The City of Keene ~~does~~ will not accept responsibility for any services rendered before application to and eligibility determination by Human Services. The City of Keene pays ~~vouchers~~ through a voucher system directly to vendors or creditors up to the dollar amount designated on the voucher. Vouchers issued for prescription assistance will require that generic medications be used unless indicated by the prescriber. A recipient shall not change the amount listed on the voucher. A recipient must sign the voucher to insure proper usage. Tobacco products, alcoholic beverages, pet food, magazines, plants, cards, and children's toys cannot be purchased with any voucher. It is the responsibility of the applicant/recipient to safeguard from theft, loss, or misuse any voucher received. **No replacement voucher will be issued if the original is lost, stolen, misplaced, or misused.**
- B. All assistance rendered will be in the form of vouchers payable to the vendor providing the service, and in accordance with the general regulations below:

1. Rent may only be made payable to the owner of the property unless Human Services is in receipt of a notarized Agent Authorization form generated by Human Services, which allows otherwise. No rent payment will be made until a Rental Verification Request form generated by Human Services has been completed in full and signed by applicant/recipient and property owner or authorized agent. Forms not generated by Human Services will not be honored. Only property owners or authorized agents as noted above will be recognized as having the authority to complete the Rental Verification Request form. *(To be issued payment, vendors must have placed on file with the City's Finance Department a completed, accurate, current W-9 Form and any other document(s) required by the City's Finance Department.)* A new Rental Verification Request form and updated W-9 will be required annually;
2. Whenever a relative of an applicant is also the property owner, that property owner will be expected to assist his/her relative pursuant to RSA 165:19. Otherwise, the property owner must prove an inability to assist before an assistance payment for rent is made for the applicant/recipient;
3. Rental Verification Request forms are legal documents upon which the city relies to determine eligibility for assistance. Information must be accurate and true. Any misrepresentation or inaccurately reported information will be grounds for stopping payment. Legal action may also be taken. The total value of any rental voucher in excess of the City's "Allowable Level of Assistance" will need written authorization of the Human Services Director;
4. Food vouchers will identify what foods may be purchased with the voucher. Vouchers must be used within five (5) days of issue;
5. All authorizations are one (1) time only with each authorization requiring Human Services approval;
6. Human Services will always attempt to provide what is necessary for the least cost possible to the City. The least expensive appropriate alternative will be sought. The amount of assistance provided will be negotiated whenever possible. Human Services uses the NH Medicaid Preferred Drug List in the administration of General Assistance for medically necessary prescriptions;
7. Human Services will not pay late charges, fees, security deposits, storage charges, key charges, etc.;
8. Property owners accepting vouchers for payment where their tenants are under eviction waive their right to evict during any period that was paid for by the City. Property owners are required to pay back the city for monies received for rent for any portion or time period where the tenant has vacated the premises for whatever reason;

9. Rent shall be considered paid by means of a welfare voucher or by an offset against monies owed to the municipality by the property owner. Payment will be considered timely when payment is rendered in the form of a voucher or could have been paid by voucher had the property owner provided the necessary verification information to the city under the provisions of RSA 540:9-a; and,
10. Whenever the owner of property rented to a person receiving General Assistance from the City of Keene is in arrears in tax payments, sewer, or water to the City, the City will apply the assistance that the property owner would have received in payment of rent on behalf of such assisted person to the property owner's delinquent balances, regardless of whether such delinquent balances are in respect of property occupied by the assisted person (RSA 165:4-a).

## **X. DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY AND AMOUNT**

### **A. Eligibility Formula**

An applicant/recipient is eligible to receive General Assistance for basic needs when:

1. The applicant/recipient meets the non-financial eligibility factors;
2. The applicant's/recipient's basic maintenance need exceeds available income plus available liquid assets. If available income and available liquid assets exceed the basic maintenance need (as determined by the Guideline amounts), the applicant/recipient is not eligible for General Assistance. If the need exceeds the available income/assets, the amount of assistance granted to the applicant/recipient shall be the difference between the two amounts, in the absence of circumstances justifying an exception;
3. The City is authorized pursuant to RSA 165:1-e, to deem as income all or any portion of any qualified state assistance reduction resulting from the failure of an applicant/recipient for General Assistance to comply with State assistance requirements. The amount of the reduction will be calculated in determination of eligibility; or,
4. The applicant/recipient must first and foremost utilize any available resources for basic needs: rent, food (minus Food Stamp allotment), cleaning and hygiene items, diapers, utilities, reasonable phone and **internet services**, and prescriptions. Applicant(s)/recipient(s) must provide dated and signed receipts. **Credit card payments, rent-to-own furniture, cable services, tobacco, alcohol, court fines, restitution, payment of personal loans and school loans are examples of non-basic needs.**

## B. Legal Standard and Interpretation

*Whenever a person in any town is poor and unable to support himself, he shall be relieved and maintained by the overseers of public welfare of such town, whether or not he has residence there.* RSA 165:1.

1. A person cannot be denied assistance solely because he/she is not a resident.
2. “Whenever” means at any or whatever time that person is poor and unable to support himself/herself.
  - a. Human Services will be available during normal business hours.
  - b. Eligibility of any applicant for General Assistance shall be determined at the time of the application if an emergency or within seven (7) business days of a completed, signed application.
  - c. Assistance shall begin as soon as the applicant is determined to be eligible.
3. “Poor and unable to support” means an individual lacks income and available assets to adequately provide for the basic maintenance needs for himself/herself or family as determined by these Guidelines.
4. “Relieved” means an applicant/recipient will be assisted, **as the Human Services staff shall determine**, to meet those basic needs.

## C. Non-financial Eligibility Factors

### 1. *Age*

~~Age is not a factor in determining whether or not a person may receive General Assistance.~~ General Assistance cannot be denied any person based on age. However, age may make certain persons eligible for other kinds of state or federal assistance, which may affect eligibility under these guidelines.

### 2. *Minors*

Minor applicants will be referred to Protective Services of the New Hampshire Division of Children, Youth and Families (NHDCYF) for case management. Minors have the residence of their custodial parent(s), legally liable parent(s), or legally liable guardian(s). Minors are the financial responsibility of their parent(s) or legal guardian(s).

### 3. *Residence*

Residence and residency shall mean a person’s place of abode or domicile. The place of abode or domicile is that designated by a person as the principal place of physical presence for the indefinite future to the exclusion of all others. Such residence or residency shall not be interrupted or lost by a temporary absence from it if there is intent to return to such residence or residency as the principal place of physical

presence. A court ordered residential program, residential treatment program, domestic violence or homeless shelter do not establish residency.

4. *Support Actions*

No applicant/recipient shall be compelled, as a condition of eligibility or continued receipt of assistance, to take any legal action against any other person. However, in the case of child support, Human Services requires that the applicant/recipient file for child support with the New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services, Child Support Enforcement Services **if there is no child support in place**. The City may pursue recovery against legally liable persons or governmental units.

~~5.~~ *Eligibility for Other Categorical Assistance*

Recipients who are, or may be, eligible for any other form of public assistance must apply for such assistance immediately, but no later than seven (7) days after being advised to do so by Human Services. Failure to do so may render the recipient ineligible for assistance and subject to sanction and/or suspension of assistance as outlined in these Guidelines. ~~No person receiving Old Age Assistance (OAA) or Aid to the Permanently and Totally Disabled (APTD), under RSA 167 or 161, will at the same time eligible for General Assistance, except emergency medical assistance.~~

6. *Employment*

- a. ~~An applicant/recipient~~ **A person** who is gainfully employed, but whose income and assets are not sufficient to meet necessary household expenses (**basic needs**), may be eligible to receive General Assistance. However, recipients who, without **verifiable** good cause, refuse a job offer or referral to suitable employment, participation in ~~a work options/programs~~, **Human Services Workfare Program (RSA 165:31)**, or who voluntarily leave a job without good cause (**RSA 165:1-d**) may be ineligible for continuing General Assistance in accordance with the procedures for suspension outlined in these Guidelines.
- b. Human Services will first determine whether there is **verifiable** good cause for such refusal, taking into account the ability, physical and mental capacity of the applicant, transportation issues, working conditions that might involve risks to health or safety, lack of adequate childcare, or any other factors that might make refusing a job reasonable. **NOTE: Employment requirements extend to all adult members of household/family unit.**

7. *Registration with the New Hampshire Department of Employment Security (NHES) and Work Search Requirements*

*All unemployed recipients and adult members of their household shall, within seven (7) days of having been granted assistance, must register with NHES to find work and*

must conduct a verifiable job search as indicated on the Notice of Decision by Human Services. Work search requirements apply to all recipients/household members unless the recipient and/or other adult members of the household are:

- a. Gainfully employed full-time;
- b. Dependents aged eighteen (18) and under who are regularly attending secondary school;
- c. Unable to work due to a verifiable debilitating condition;
- d. Unable to work due to illness, mental or physical disability, or another member of the household/family unit verified with written medical documentation from a doctor; or,
- e. Solely responsible for the care of a child age ~~three (3)~~ five (5) or under. A person responsible for the care of a child aged six (6) to twelve (12) shall not be excused from work search requirements, but shall be deemed to have a good cause to refuse a job requiring work during hours the child is not actually in school if there is no other childcare available. Recipients will be asked to verify contacts made to locate childcare.

Human Services shall give necessary and reasonable assistance to ensure compliance with work requirements, including referrals for transportation and work clothes. Failure of an applicant/recipient to comply with these requirements without verifiable good cause will be reason for denial of assistance (RSA 165:1-b, d).

8. *Disqualification for Voluntary Termination of Employment*

Applicant(s)/recipient(s) subject to the New Hampshire Voluntary Quit Law shall become ineligible for assistance as provided by the law (RSA 165: d).

9. *Students*

Students who are not minors must be employed full-time to be eligible for General Assistance.

10. *Employment of Household Members*

The employment requirements of these Guidelines, job search requirements, or participation in ~~a work option/program~~ City of Keene Workfare Program, shall be required for all adults aged eighteen (18) to sixty-five (65) years residing in the same household, except those regularly attending secondary school or employed on a full-time basis, who are:

- a. Legally liable to contribute to the support of the recipient and/or children of the household; or,

- b. Not prevented from maintaining employment and contributing to the support of the household by reason of physical or mental disability or other justifiable cause as verified in writing to Human Services.

Human Services may waive this requirement where failure of the other household members to comply is not the fault of the applicant/recipient and Human Services decides it would be unreasonable for the applicant/recipient to establish a separate household. Human Services may suspend the non-compliant recipient(s).

#### D. Available Assets

##### 1. *Available Liquid Assets*

Cash on hand, bank deposits, credit union accounts, and securities are available liquid assets. Insurance policies with a loan value and non-essential personal property may be considered as available liquid assets when they have been converted to cash.

Human Services shall allow a reasonable time for such conversion. However, tools of trade, livestock, farm equipment, and necessary and ordinary household goods are essential items of personal property, which shall not be considered as available assets.

##### 2. *Automobile Ownership*

The ownership of one (1) automobile by an applicant/recipient or their dependent(s) does not affect eligibility if it is essential for medical or rehabilitation services, transportation to and from employment, or is essential for use necessary to the maintenance of the individual or family. Essential means that there is no other transportation available. ~~Car payments will not be considered justifiable expenses when determining eligibility.~~ The cost of purchase and maintenance of a necessary vehicle must be appropriate to the applicant/recipient income. Ownership of more than one (1) vehicle per household may be determined as non-essential by Human Services. The book value of a **non-essential second** vehicle may be considered as a liquid asset and required converted to cash prior to eligibility for anything other than extreme emergency assistance such as food or medication.

##### 3. *Insurance*

The ownership of insurance policies does not affect eligibility. However, when a policy has cash or loan value, the recipient will be required to obtain and/or borrow all available funds, which shall be considered available liquid assets. Premiums paid will not be included as “need” in determining eligibility or amount of aid. Human Services may request verification of policy value.

##### 4. *Real Property*

~~The type and amount of real property~~ Real Property owned by an applicant/recipient

does not affect eligibility, although rent or other such income from property will be considered as available to meet need. Real estate owned and occupied by the applicant as primary residence shall be considered in the same manner as rental assistance. The type and amount of real property owned by an applicant/recipient does not affect eligibility, although rent or other such income from property will be considered as available to meet need. Applicant(s)/recipient(s) owning real property, other than that occupied as primary residence, shall be expected to make reasonable efforts to dispose of it at fair market value. Applicant(s)/recipient(s) will be informed that a lien covering the amount of any General Assistance received will be placed against any real property they own (RSA 165:28). Human Services will not make mortgage payments when the applicant/recipient has a co-signer on the note. Generally, any mortgage payment made shall be applied to principal only. Applicant/recipient will be required to execute any and all documents necessary to perfect the City's lien interest aforementioned; however, failure of the applicant/recipient to do so does not limit the City's ability to place a lien on such property.

5. *Property Transfers*

No applicant/recipient who is otherwise eligible will receive such assistance if they made an assignment, transfer, or conveyance of property for the purpose of rendering themselves eligible for assistance within three (3) years immediately preceding the application for general assistance (RSA 165:2-b).

E. Standard of Need

The basic financial requirement for General Assistance is that an applicant/ recipient is presently poor and unable to support himself/herself. An applicant/ recipient shall be considered poor when there are insufficient available income/assets, not to exceed the "Allowable Level of Assistance" standards posted in the Human Services office, to pay for either himself/herself any of the following necessary living expenses. Such costs shall be determined in accordance with the "Allowable Level of Assistance" for the City, which will be reviewed and updated annually.

1. *Housing*

An applicant/recipient must be on the lease in order to be eligible for rental assistance. Such cost shall be based on approved standards in the "Allowable Level of Assistance Payments" as identified above.

a. Housing/Shelter Costs

Real property owned and occupied by the applicant/recipient as a primary residence shall be considered in the same manner as rental assistance.



Depending on family unit size, Human Services will utilize their fair market rental rates published by the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) for the maximum rent level as “need.” Housing arrearages will be included in the “need” formula, if and only if, such payment is necessary to prevent eviction or foreclosure or to protect the health and safety of the household. However, if the amount of such mortgage or rental arrearage substantially exceeds the cost of alternative available housing which complies with local health and housing code standards, or if the payment of arrears will not prevent eviction or foreclosure; Human services may consider payment of, rent, and/or reasonable relocation expenses for such alternative housing, if under the circumstances of the case it is reasonable to do so. Alternative housing includes homeless shelter(s). Residential program alternatives are not permanent residences and therefore program housing costs are not allowable under these Guidelines.

b. Security Deposits

Security deposits are not included in the “need” formula.

c. Relative Landlords/Property Owners

Whenever a relative of an applicant/recipient is also the landlord/property owner for the applicant/recipient, that landlord/property owner will be presumed able to assist their relative pursuant to RSA 165:19, and must prove an inability to assist before any aid payments for housing cost is made. Rent will not be paid to non-property owners such as friends and relatives.

d. Shelter

In cases in which the city has made an appropriate referral for emergency, temporary shelter, and the applicant/recipient refuses to accept such a referral, or it if the applicant/recipient does not abide by the rules of emergency housing/shelter, Human Services may suspend the applicant/recipient by refusing to pay for alternative emergency shelter, but may not suspend the applicant/recipient by denying other forms of assistance to which they are otherwise entitled. The applicant/recipient must accept the least costly alternative for emergency housing assistance that is deemed suitable by Human Services for their household. ***NOTE: It is not the responsibility of Human Services to locate housing.*** Shelter/housing assistance may be considered once the applicant/recipient locates affordable permanent housing.

e. **First month’s rent is only available once in a 12 month period.**

2. *Utilities*

When utility costs are not included in the housing/shelter expense, the most recent

typical monthly utility bill(s) will be included as part of “need” by Human Services. Utilities must be in the applicant/recipient name in order to render assistance. Applicant(s)/recipient(s) will be required to make extended payment arrangements with the utility company. Arrearages will not be included as “need” except as set forth below.

a. Arrearages

Arrearages will not be included except when necessary to ensure the health and safety of the applicant/recipient household or to prevent termination of utility services where no other resource or referrals can be utilized.

b. Electronic Arrearages

In accordance with New Hampshire Public Utilities Commission Rules (NHPUC), electric arrearages need not be paid if Human Services notifies the electric company that the City guarantees payment of current electric bill as long as the applicant/recipient is eligible for General Assistance.

c. Restoration of Utility Service

When utility service has been terminated and Human Services has determined that alternative utility service is not available and alternative shelter is not feasible, arrearages will be included as “needed” when restoration of service is necessary to ensure the health and safety of the applicant’s/recipient’s household. Human Services may negotiate with the utility service for payment of less than the full amount of the arrears and/or may attempt to arrange a repayment plan to obtain restoration of service.

d. Restoration of Electric Service

When electric service has been terminated and restoration is required, arrearages may either be included as set forth in the above paragraph, or may be paid in accordance with a reasonable payment plan entered into by the applicant/recipient and the electric company. Human Services will hold the applicant/recipient accountable for payment arrangement for as long as the recipient continues to request General Assistance. Compliance with a payment plan will be a required element of a Notice of Decision.

3. *Food*

The amount included for food purchases will be in accordance with the most recent standard Food Stamp allotment, as determined under the ~~Food Stamp Program~~ **Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP)** administered by the New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services (NHDHHS). An amount in excess of the standard food stamp allotment may be granted if one or more members of the household provide written medical verification from a physician of a special

diet, the documented cost of which is greater than can be purchased with the family's allotment standard. Food vouchers may not be used for alcohol, tobacco, or pet food.

4. *Non-Grocery Items*

"Need" allowance will be given for the cost of providing personal household necessities in an amount not to exceed those identified in the "Allowable Level of Assistance."

5. *Telephone*

if the absence of a telephone would create an unreasonable risk to the applicant's/ recipient's health or safety (verifiable in writing by a physician or for other good cause as determined by Human Services, the lowest available basic monthly rate will be budgeted. Human Services will not provide telephone equipment.

6. *Transportation*

If Human Services determines that transportation is necessary (i.e., for health or medical reasons, to maintain employment, or to comply with conditions of assistance) "need" may include the cost of public transportation, or minimal fuel purchases.

***NOTE: No cost to prevent repossession of any kind, no automobile payments, no registration, insurance, or licensing costs will be included.***

7. *Maintenance of Insurance*

Human Services may determine that the current monthly maintenance of medical insurance is essential.

8. *Emergency and Other Expenses*

In the event that the applicant/recipient has the following current expenses, the actual cost shall be included as emergency and other expenses to determine eligibility and amount of General Assistance:

a. Medical Expenses

Human Services will not include amounts for medical, dental, or eye services unless the applicant/recipient can verify that all other potential sources have been investigated and there is no other source of assistance. Other sources to be considered included state and federal programs, local area clinics, service organizations, and hospital indigent programs designed for such needs. When an applicant/recipient requests medical service, prescriptions, dental service, or eye service, staff will require written verification from a physician or dentist, indicating that these services are absolutely necessary and cannot be postponed without creating significant risk. Medication assistance will be the least costly generic prescription drug, from the NH Medicaid Preferred Drug List, that has been proven effective for most clients with same condition.

***Note: Applicant/recipient will seek service from a Medicaid provider***

*physician. Generic medications will be used unless specified by the licensed prescriber.*

*Note: Human Services does not cover smoking cessation, narcotic medications, sleep aids, Opioid antagonist, or stimulate blocking pharmaceutical items.*

b. Legal Expenses

Except for those specifically required by statute, no legal expenses will be included.

c. Emergency Clothing

If the applicant/recipient has an emergency clothing need which cannot be met by other community resources, the expense of reasonably meeting that emergency clothing need will be included.

d. Miscellaneous

~~No moving expenses will be included. Furniture storage charges will not be included.~~

Moving Expenses

Moving expenses may be included in the calculation of “need,” however, will not be paid by Human Services.

9. *Shared Expenses*

If the applicant/recipient household shares shelter, utility or other expenses with a non-applicant/recipient (i.e., is part of a residential unit), then need will be determined on a pro rata share based on the total number of adults in the residential unit, provided the applicant(s)/recipient(s) name is on the lease.

10. *Home Ownership Expenses*

Where the applicant/recipient owns a home and is otherwise eligible for assistance, payment for property taxes, fire insurance, sewer/water, and essential repairs may be deemed as necessary by Human Services to prevent foreclosure, preserve the home, and promote the health and safety of the applicant/recipient.

11. *Maximum Payment Level Determination*

Payment levels are identified on the “Allowable Level of Assistance” which is reviewed, updated, and modified annually by Human Services based on local market conditions and federal assistance guidelines.

12. *Unusual Needs Not Otherwise Provided For In These Guidelines*

If Human Services determines that the applicant’s/recipient’s needs have substantially changed, or that strict application of the Standard of Need criteria will result in unnecessary or undue hardship, Human Services may make minor adjustments in the criteria, or may make allowances using the emergency need standards stated in

Section X of these Guidelines. Any such determination and the reasons therefore, shall be stated in writing in the applicant's case record.

F. Income

In determining eligibility and the amount of assistance, the applicant's/recipient's standard of need shall be compared to the available income/assets. Computation of income and expenses will be by the month. The following items will be included in the computation:

1. *Earned Income*

Income in cash or in-kind earned by the applicant/recipient or any adult member of the household through wages, salary, commissions, or profit, whether self-employed or as an employee, is to be included. Rental income and profits from items sold are considered earned income. With respect to self-employment, total profit is arrived at by subtracting business expenses from gross income in accordance with standard accounting principles. When income consists of wages, the amount computed should be that available after income taxes, social security, and other payroll deductions required by State, federal, or local law, court ordered support payments and child care costs, and work related clothing costs have been deducted from income. Wages that are trusted, or income similarly unavailable to the applicant's/recipient's dependents, will not be included.

2. *Income or Support from Other Persons*

Contributions from relatives, friends, associates or other household members will be considered as income if available and/or received by the applicant/recipient.

3. *Income from Other Assistance or Social Insurance Programs*

Stage categorical assistance benefits, OAA payments, Social Security payments, VA benefits, unemployment insurance benefits, and payment from other government sources (i.e., income tax return) shall be considered as income.

a. Food Stamps cannot be counted as income pursuant to federal law.

USC 2017 (b).

b. Fuel assistance cannot be counted as income pursuant to federal law.

42 USC 8624 (f) (1)

4. *Court Ordered Support Payments*

Alimony and child support payments will be considered income if actually received by the applicant/recipient. Applicant/recipient is required to file for child support payments through the NHDHHS Division of Child Support Enforcement Services.

5. *Income from Other Sources*

Payments from pensions, trust funds, and similar programs shall be considered

income. Any income available to the applicant(s)/recipient(s) from members of their household will be considered as income. Persons in the relationship of father, mother, stepfather, stepmother, son, daughter, husband or wife, are legally liable to support the applicant(s)/recipient(s) and therefore may be required to apply jointly with him/her if they are in the same household (RSA 165:19). Any adult (even an unrelated person or roommate) who resides in the same household “in loco parentis” (in the role of substitute parent) to a minor child is liable for contributing to that child’s support, and is required to apply jointly with that household (RSA: 165:32). For the purposes of determining eligibility under these Guidelines, the income of a member of the household may be considered available to the applicant(s)/recipient(s) if living together with the applicant(s)/ recipient(s) in a single housekeeping unit and shares the facilities.

6. *Deemed Income*

Human Services may deem as income all or any portion of any qualified State assistance reduction pursuant to RSA 167:82. The following criteria shall apply to any action to deem income under this section (RSA 165:1-e). When applicant(s)/recipient(s) receiving benefits through the NH Division of Health and Human Services is sanctioned by a reduction in benefits for non-compliance, the amount of income considered available would be the amount the applicant(s)/recipient(s) was/were receiving prior to the sanction.

G. Residents of Shelters for Victims of Domestic Violence

An applicant/recipient residing in a shelter for victims of domestic violence who has income, and owns resources jointly with the abusive member of the applicant/recipient household, will be required to cooperate with the normal procedures for purposes of verification. Such resources and income may be excluded from eligibility determination unless the applicant/recipient has safe access to joint resources at the time of application. The verification process may be completed through an authorized representative of the shelter of residence. The normal procedures taken in accordance with these Guidelines to recover assistance granted will not delay such assistance.

H. Length of Eligibility

Assistance is authorized on an as needed basis and is not continued automatically. The length of assistance will vary depending on the need. Applicant(s)/recipient(s) must contact Human Services to schedule an appointment for each assistance request. Recipient(s) are required to apply for and utilize any benefits that will help them to return

to a state of financial self-sufficiency.

## **XI. NON-RESIDENTS**

### **A. Eligibility**

No persons shall be refused assistance solely on the basis of residence (RSA 165:1).

### **B. Standards**

The application procedure, eligibility standards, and standard of need shall be the same for non-residents as for residents.

### **C. Verification**

Verification records will not be considered unavailable, nor the applicant's/recipient's responsibility for providing such records relaxed, solely because they are located in the applicant's/recipient's municipality of residence.

### **D. Temporary or Emergency Aid**

The standards for fulfilling of immediate emergency needs of non-residents and for temporary assistance pending final decision will be the same as for residents.

### **E. Determination of Residence**

Determination of residence will be made if the applicant/recipient requests return home transportation, or Human Services has reason to believe the applicant/recipient is a resident of another New Hampshire municipality from which recovery can be made under RSA 165:20.

#### **1. *Minors***

The residence of a minor applicant will be presumed to be the residence of his/her custodial parent/guardian.

#### **2. *Adults***

For competent adults, the standard for determining residence will be the overall intent of the applicant/recipient, as set forth in the definition of "residence." The following criteria will aid Human Services in determining the applicant's/recipient's residence:

- a. Does the person have or immediately intend to establish a dwelling place within the City?
- b. Does the person have property, an established dwelling place, or employment in any other municipality to which they intend to return?

- c. Does the person have a present intent to leave the City at some specific future time?
- d. Has the person evidence of his/her intent to establish domicile in some manner, such as registering a vehicle, registering to vote, opening local bank accounts, etc., or intend to do so in the immediate future?

~~None of the above factors is conclusive. The statement of a person over eighteen (18) years of age as to his/her residence or intent to establish residence will be accepted in absence of inconsistent evidence of behavior.~~

F. Return Home Transportation

At the request of non-resident applicant(s), any aid, temporary or otherwise, to which they would be otherwise entitled under the standards set forth in these Guidelines, will be used by Human Services to cause the applicant(s)/recipient(s) to be returned to the municipality of residence (RSA: 165:1-c).

G. Recovery

Any aid given to a non-resident, including the cost of return home transportation, will be recovered from the municipality of residence.

## XII. HOMELESS PROCEDURE

- A. In cases where persons who are poor and unable to support themselves appear at Human Services during normal business hours and request temporary housing, Human Services will provide the applicant with contact information for 211, the NH Emergency Helpline and Homeless Outreach.
- B. In cases where residents of Keene who are poor and unable to support themselves appear at Human Services during normal business hours and request temporary housing, Human Services will make a referral directly to Homeless Outreach for shelter placement. If a homeless applicant/recipient refuses to allow Human Services to contact shelter or Homeless Outreach, or if an applicant/recipient refuses shelter when room is available, the City will have met its obligation by providing for or arranging said accommodation.

~~Human Services will inform the applicant/recipient of their responsibility for accepting shelter sponsorship as follows: Human Services has a Memorandum of Agreement with Southwestern Community Services (SCS) to provide homeless services to City of Keene residents. Eligibility for City homeless shelter assistance will require the following:~~



1. Submission of a complete ~~written~~ application for ~~assistance~~ **General Assistance and Shelter Sponsorship Agreement** within three (3) business days of entering SCS shelter;
2. Attendance at all scheduled Human Services shelter ~~sponsorship~~ **eligibility** appointments;
3. **Compliance with City of Keene Human Services Notice of Decision for present and further requests for assistance;**
4. Compliance with all shelter rules and regulations;
5. Participation in an individualized case plan with the shelter case manager, **copy to be brought to City Human Services eligibility appointment;**
6. Compliance with all elements and conditions of the case plan **established with shelter staff and shelter resident;**
7. Breaking of shelter rules, ~~and/or~~ eviction from the shelter, ~~and/or~~ **any** violation of the terms of the case plan will result in immediate suspension of ~~shelter~~/housing services and assistance rendered by Human Services for a period of thirty (30) days; and,
8. Self-termination without notice to shelter staff may result in immediate suspension of ~~shelter~~/housing assistance rendered by Human Services for a period of thirty (30) days.

### **XIII. ~~WELFARE WORK OPTIONS~~ CITY OF KEENE HUMAN SERVICES WORKFARE PROGRAM**

#### A. Participation

According to New Hampshire RSA 165:31, anyone found eligible for and receiving General Assistance may be required to work for the City or other appropriate local human services agencies at any available bona fide job that is within their capacity as reimbursement for benefits received. Participants in City of Keene Workfare Program are not considered employees of the City, and any work performed does not give rise to any employee/employer relationship between the recipient/welfare worker and the City.

#### B. Reimbursement Rate

Required recipient/welfare worker hours are based on the amount of aid rendered and are compensated at \$10.00 per hour. All hours attributable to Workfare shall be used to reimburse the City for assistance given. No recipient will work more hours than necessary to reimburse the City for aid rendered.

#### C. Continuing Financial Liability

If, due to lack of available work or other verifiable good cause, a recipient does not work a sufficient number of hours to fully reimburse the City for the amount of applicant/recipient aid, the amount of aid received less the value of work hours completed will still be owed to the City.

D. Allowance for Work Search

Human Services will provide reasonable time during working hours for the recipient to secure work in the labor market.

E. Work Attendance

Refusal to work does not include failure to appear for or to perform under the circumstances listed below. The recipient should, however, attempt to schedule appointments so as not to conflict with the work and must notify the supervisor in advance to the appointment. The circumstances include when the recipient:

1. Has a conflicting job interview;
2. Has a conflicting interview at a service or welfare agency;
3. Has a medical appointment or illness;
4. As a parent or person “in loco parentis,” must care for a child under the age of five (5). A person responsible for a child over the age of six (6), but under twelve (12) years of age, is not required to work during the hours the child is not in school if there is not another responsible person available to provide care and no other care is available. The recipient must demonstrate contacts made to locate childcare;
5. Provides medical documentation of inability to work due to illness or due to a mental or physical disability of the recipient or another member of the household;  
or,
6. Has medical documentation that states the applicant/recipient must remain home because of illness or disability of another member of the household.

**XIV. BURIALS AND CREMATIONS**

Human Services ~~shall provide for proper burial or cremation at the City's expense as identified in the “Allowable Level of Assistance” for indigent persons found in the City at the time of death, regardless of whether the deceased person ever applied per RSA 165:3, II. If relatives or other private persons, the State, Social Security, or other sources are unable to cover the entire burial/cremation expense, the municipality will pay the “Allowable Level of Assistance” for burial/cremation. will assist with the~~

burial/cremation costs when there is prior authorization by the Human Services department and after attempts to find relatives or other parties responsible for payment have failed. In order to be considered for funeral assistance, a family member must appear in person at the Human Services office and apply for assistance of the deceased prior to the funeral/cremation. Human Services will make a determination for assistance based on the relative's income and liabilities. If determined eligible for assistance, the funeral may consist of cremation or burial in the City of Keene Cemetery identified in the "Allowable Level of Assistance Payments found in Appendix A" for indigent persons found in the City at time of death, regardless of whether the deceased person ever applied per RSA 165:27-a. Resources from the department of Health and Human Services, Social Security, Veterans Benefits or other sources as per RSA 165:3 will be applied toward reduction of the Human Services cost. Family members who enter into a contract with a funeral provider before applying for assistance from the City will be obligated to the conditions of the contract without City assistance.

## XV. NOTICE OF **ADVERSE ACTION**

All persons have a constitutional right to be free of unfair, arbitrary, or unreasonable action. This includes an applicant/recipient of General Assistance whose aid has been denied, terminated, or reduced. Every applicant/recipient shall be given a written Notice of Decision. Human Services will make every effort to ensure that the applicant/recipient understands the decision.

### A. Notice of Assistance Granted

When an applicant is granted assistance, the Notice shall include the type of assistance given and the period of time the assistance is given for.

### B. Action Taken for Reasons Other than Noncompliance with the Guidelines

Whenever a decision is made to **withdraw, suspend, or deny an application** for assistance ~~or to grant partial amount of assistance requested~~, a Notice of Decision shall be given ~~or mailed~~ to the applicant/recipient ~~either the same day or next workday following the making of the decision~~ immediately or within five (5) working days from the time the application process is completed. **The Notice shall contain:**

- a. **A clear statement of the reasons for the withdrawal, suspension, or denial. If a denial or suspension is due to applicant's failure to comply with these Guidelines, the Notice shall list those Guidelines with which the applicant has failed to comply, the specific actions necessary to comply, and the consequences for non-compliance.**
- b. **A statement advising the applicant/recipient of the right to a Fair Hearing and that any request for a Fair Hearing must be submitted in writing within five (5) days; instructions as to how the applicant/recipient may request a Fair Hearing with a**

Fair Hearing Request form available from Human Services; a statement that General Assistance may continue, if there was initial eligibility, until the date of Fair Hearing, if requested by the claimant in writing. All assistance must be repaid if the claimant fails to prevail at the Hearing. (~~All this was reworded for clarity.~~)

### C. Suspension for Noncompliance with the Guidelines

#### 1. *Compliance*

Applicant/recipient must comply with these Guidelines and the reasonable request of Human Services. Human Services staff must enforce the Guidelines while ensuring that all applicants/recipients receive due process. Applicant(s)/recipient(s) should be given reasonable notice of the conditions and requirements of eligibility and continuing eligibility and notice that noncompliance may result in termination or suspension.

#### 2. *Conditions*

Any ~~applicant/recipient person~~ otherwise eligible for assistance shall become ineligible under RSA:1-b if they willfully ~~and without good cause~~ fail to comply with the requirements of these Guidelines relating to the obligation to:

- a. **Failure to** disclose and provide verification of all income, resources or other material financial data, including any changes in such information. **This may be due to a failure to keep scheduled appointments without verifiable good cause;**
- b. Participate in ~~a work requirement~~ the Workfare Program ~~if~~ as assigned by Human Services;
- c. Comply with work search requirements;
- d. Apply for other public assistance, which would alleviate the need for General Assistance, as required by Human Services; and,
- e. **Failure to** keep all appointments with Human Services and other service agencies **that could provide assistance.**

#### 3. *Notice of Decision*

No recipient otherwise eligible shall be suspended for noncompliance with conditions unless given written Notice of Decision stating actions required in order to remain eligible and a seven (7) day period within which to comply. The first Notice of Decision shall be given at ~~the time of the Notice of Decision~~ **the first eligibility appointment**, and thereafter as the conditions change, **a new Notice will be issued at further appointments where General Assistance is requested.**

4. *Non-Compliance*

If a recipient willfully fails to come into compliance during the seven (7) day period or willfully falls into noncompliance, Human Services will give the recipient a suspension/~~sanction~~ notice.

5. *Suspension/~~Sanction~~ Notice*

Written ~~notice~~ **Notice of Decision** to recipient that he/she is suspended from assistance due to failure to comply with conditions required in a **First Notice and/or other activities such as filing false and/or omitting information**, Notice shall include:

- a. **A** list of requirements with which the applicant/recipient is not in compliance and a description of those actions necessary for compliance;
- b. **A** defined period of suspension;
- c. **Notice** of the right to a Fair Hearing on the issue of **willful** noncompliance and that such request must be made in writing to **the City's Human Services Director** within five (5) **business** days of receipt of the suspension notice; and,
- d. **A** statement that assistance may continue in accordance with the prior eligibility determination until the Fair Hearing decision is made, if the ~~claimant~~ **recipient** so requests **in writing for a Fair Hearing**; **however**, if the ~~claimant~~ **recipient** fails to prevail at the Hearing, the suspension will start immediately after the decision and such aid must be repaid by the recipient.

6. *Suspension/~~Sanction~~ Period*

The suspension period for failure to comply with the Guideline requirements shall ~~be~~ **last**:

- a. **Either** seven (7) days for the first suspension or fourteen (14) days if the recipient has had a prior suspension that ended within the past six (6) months, and
- b. **Until** the recipient complies with the Guidelines if the recipient, upon the expiration of the seven (7) or fourteen (14) day suspension period, continues to fail to carry out the specific actions set forth ~~in the First Notice~~ **on this Notice**, the disqualification shall continue until the person complies.
- c. ~~Applicant(s)/recipient(s) who file false and/or omit information may be suspended for six (6) to twelve (12) months and will be required to establish and comply with a repayment plan for any assistance given before an further assistance is granted; or,~~

- d. **Notwithstanding paragraph b above, a** recipient(s)-who has been suspended for non-compliance for at least six (6) months may file a new application for assistance without coming back into compliance.
7. *Fair Hearing on Continuing Noncompliance*

A recipient who has been suspended/sanctioned until they comply with the Guidelines may request a Fair Hearing in writing to resolve a dispute over whether or not they have satisfactorily complied with the required Guidelines. ~~No assistance shall be available until a Fair Hearing on non-compliance is resolved.~~ The burden of proof lies with the applicant/recipient to show that Human Services was incorrect in their decision not to assist and or/limit assistance of the claimant's request.
8. *Compliance after Suspension*

An applicant/recipient who has been subject to a suspension and who has come back into compliance will have assistance resumed provided the applicant/recipient is still otherwise eligible. The burden of proof lies with the applicant/recipient to show that they have come into compliance with the Guidelines. Notice of Decision stating that assistance has been resumed will again set forth any actions required to remain eligible for assistance, but will not provide a seven (7) day period for compliance unless new conditions have been imposed.

## **XVI. FAIR HEARINGS**

A Fair Hearing is a process outlined in RSA 165 that provides the opportunity for an applicant/recipient to dispute a decision made by Human Services. The General Assistance guidelines specify the specific procedure and time line required for a Fair Hearing to be in compliance with RSA 165.

### **A. Requests**

A request for a Fair Hearing is a written request by the applicant(s)/recipient(s) requesting an opportunity to present his/her case to a higher authority.

### **B. Fair Hearing Officer/Board**

The Fair Hearing **Officer**/Board will be assigned by the City Manager. The person(s) serving as the Fair Hearing **Officer**/Board must:

1. **N**ot have participated in the decision causing dissatisfaction;
2. **B**e impartial;
3. **B**e sufficiently skilled in interviewing to be able to obtain evidence and facts necessary for a fair determination; and,

4. Be capable of evaluating all evidence fairly and realistically, to explain to the claimant the laws and regulations under which Human Services operated, and to interpret to Human Services any evidence of unclear or inequitable policies, practices, or actions.

### C. Time Limit for Hearings

1. When an application is denied and/or when an applicant/recipient desires to challenge a decision made by Human Services relative to the receipt of assistance, a written request for a Fair Hearing must be received in Human Services within five (5) business days of receipt of the Notice of Decision at issue.
2. Hearings requested by claimants must be held within ten (10) business days of the receipt of the request. Human Services will give notice to the claimant setting the time and location of the Hearing. The notice will be given to the claimant at least forty-eight (48) hours in advance of the Hearing or mailed by certified mail to the claimant at least seventy-two (72) hours in advance of the Hearing.
3. Any applicant/recipient may withdraw, preferably in writing, the request for a Fair Hearing any time prior to, and up to the time of the Fair Hearing. An applicant/recipient believing to have good cause to request a continuance or postponement may do so by contacting Human Services at the earliest possible time prior to the Fair Hearing. Good cause shall include, but not be limited to, medical emergency or unforeseen circumstances that prevent the claimant from attending the scheduled Hearing. A claimant shall provide documentation of such circumstances to Human Services no later than seventy-two (72) hours after the request is made. Failure to provide such documentation and/or failure to appear for a scheduled Fair Hearing request of the claimant.

### D. Fair Hearing Procedures

1. All Fair Hearings shall be conducted in such a manner as to ensure due process of law. Fair Hearings shall not be conducted according to strict rules of evidence. The burden of proof is on the claimant, who is required to establish their case by preponderance of the evidence that Human Services was unlawful or unreasonable under these Guidelines.
2. The Human Services staff person responsible for the Notice of Decision will attend the Hearing and testify about the decision in dispute and the reasons therefore.

3. Both parties will be given the opportunity to offer evidence and explain their positions as fully and completely as wished. The claimant shall have the opportunity to present the case.
4. The claimant or his/her representative and the Human Services Official or his/her representative has the right to examine all records, papers, and documents used at the hearing. The claimant shall have the opportunity to present his/her own case or at the claimant's option, with the aid of others and to bring witnesses to establish all pertinent facts, to advance any arguments, without undue interference, to question or refute testimony or evidence, including the opportunity to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses.
5. The decision of the Fair Hearing Officer/Board must be based solely on the record in light of these Guidelines. Evidence, both written and oral, which is admitted at the Hearing, shall be the sole content of the record. The Fair Hearing Officer/Board shall not review the case record or other materials prior to introduction at the Hearing.
6. The parties may stipulate to any facts.
7. Any claimant may withdraw, in writing, his/her request for a Fair Hearing at any time up to the time of the Hearing. The Fair Hearing Officer/Board will wait a reasonable amount of time, fifteen (15) minutes, for claimant to appear for the Hearing. A claimant who fails to appear for any scheduled Fair Hearing will be deemed to have withdrawn his/her request for such a Hearing.
8. A claimant who believes he/she has verifiable good cause to request a continuance or postponement of a scheduled Fair Hearing shall contact Human Services at the earliest possible time prior to the Hearing. Upon verifiable good cause shown, Human Services may reschedule such Hearing. Verifiable good cause shall include, but not necessarily be limited to, demonstrated medical emergency or other demonstrated unforeseen circumstances, which reasonably prevents the claimant from attending such scheduled hearing. However, the claimant is entitled to only one (1) such postponement or continuance per Fair Hearing request. A claimant shall provide documentation of such circumstances to the satisfaction of Human Services no later than seventy-two (72) hours after the request for postponement is made. If the claimant does not provide documentation of such circumstance to Human Services within the seventy-two (72) hours, then the request will be deemed withdrawn by the claimant.

#### E. Decisions



1. Fair Hearing decision will be rendered within seven (7) days of the Hearing. Decision shall be in writing setting forth the reasons for decision and the facts on which the Fair Hearing Officer/Board relied in reaching the decision. A copy of the written decision shall be mailed or delivered to the claimant and Human Services.
2. Fair Hearing decisions will be rendered on the basis of the evidence presented, both oral and written, the Officer's/Board's finding of fact, these Guidelines, and state and federal law. The Fair Hearing decision shall set forth appropriate relief.
3. The decision will be dated. In the case of a Hearing to review a denial of aid, the decision is retroactive to the date of the action being appealed. If a claimant fails to prevail at the Hearing, the assistance given pending the Hearing shall be a debt owed by the individual to the City and a repayment schedule shall be established.
4. Human Services shall keep record of all Fair Hearing decisions on file in chronological order. These records will include documentary evidence presented at the hearing and the written decision of the Fair Hearing Officer/Board.
5. None of the procedures specified herein shall limit any right of the claimant to subsequent court action to review or challenge the adverse decision.

## **XVII. LIENS**

### **A. Liens on real Property (RSA 165:28)**

The amount of money spent by a municipality to support or assist an applicant shall, except for good cause, be made a lien on any real estate owned by the assisted person. (This section does not authorize the placement of a lien on the real estate of legally liable relatives, as defined by RSA 165:19). Human Services shall file a Notice of Lien with the Registry of Deeds, complete with the owner's name and description of the property sufficient to identify it. Interest at the rate of six percent (6%) per year may be charged on the amount of money constituting the lien commencing one (1) year after the date the lien is filed. The lien remains in effect until enforced or released or until the amount of the lien is repaid to the City. The lien shall not be enforced so long as the real property is occupied as the sole residence of the assisted person, surviving spouse, or surviving children who are under age eighteen (18), blind, or permanently and totally disabled. Upon repayment of the lien, the City must file a written Release of Lien with the County Registry of Deeds.

In accordance with RSA 165:28, the City Manager is authorized by the City Council to release any lien executed under RSA 165, et seq., if the City Manager determines that the release of such lien is in the best interest of either the City or the assisted person.

B. Civil Judgements (RSA 165:28-a)

The City of Keene shall be entitled to a lien upon property passing under the terms of a Will or by intestate succession, a property settlement, or a civil judgement for personal inquiries awarded any person granted assistance by the City under RSA 165 for the amount of assistance granted by the City. The City shall be entitled to the lien only if the assistance was granted no more than six (6) years before the receipt of the inheritance or award of the property settlement or civil judgement (RSA 165:28-a). The lien shall take precedence over all other claims.

**XVIII. RECOVERY AND BILLING FROM GOVERNMENT, UNIT OF RESIDENCE, RELATIVES, OR OTHER**

- A. The amount of money spent by the City of Keene to support an applicant who has a residence in another municipality, or has a father, mother, stepfather, stepmother, husband, wife, or adult child of sufficient ability to also support the assisted applicant, may be recovered from the municipality of residence or legally liable relatives. Sufficient ability shall be deemed to exist when the relative's weekly income is more than sufficient to provide a reasonable subsistence compatible with decency and health. Written notice of money spent in support of an assisted person must be given to the liable relative. Human Services shall make reasonable efforts to give such written notice prior to the giving of aid, but aid to which an applicant is entitled under these Guidelines shall not be delayed due to inability to contact liable relatives. Any legal action for recovery brought under RSA 165:20 must be filed in court within six (6) years after the expenditure (RSA 165:1, 20, 25). There shall be no delay, refusal, or termination of assistance while Human Services is pursuing reimbursement from responsible relatives or the municipality of residence.
- B. The amount of money spent by the City to support a recipient who has a court suit or settlement pending shall be recovered by notifying the attorney or insurance carrier of the City's right to lien the suit or settlement for all aid rendered (RSA 165:28-a). Any legal action to recover must be filed in a court within six (6) years after the expenditure.
- C. The amount of money spent by a municipality to support a person who has made initial application for SSI and has signed an Interim Assistance Program Reimbursement Form shall be recovered through SSA and Department of Health and Human Services.
- D. A former or current recipient who is returned to an income status after receiving assistance agrees to reimburse the City for the assistance provided (RSA 165:20).

**XIX. APPLICATION OF RENTS PAID BY THE CITY OF KEENE**

- A. Whenever the owner of property rented to a person receiving City of Keene General Assistance is in arrears in tax payments, sewer, or water to the City, the City will apply the assistance that the property owner would have received in payments to the property owner's delinquent balances, regardless of whether such delinquent balances are in respect of property occupied by the assisted person (RSA 165:4-a).
- B. Payment shall be considered in arrears if more than thirty (30) days have lapsed since the mailing of the bill or in the case of real estate taxes, if interest has begun to accrue pursuant to RSA 76:13; RSA 165:4-a. Delinquent property tax balances will be first priority, followed by delinquent sewer or water balances.
- C. The procedure for application of such rent is as follows:
  - 1. Human Services will issue a voucher on behalf of the tenant to the property owner for the authorized amount of rent. The voucher will indicate any amount to be applied to a delinquent balance owed by the property owner.
  - 2. Human Services will provide a copy of the voucher to the appropriate City Department for processing.
  - 3. The City of Keene Revenue Collections Department determines which delinquent balance will be credited with this payment. Revenue Collections will issue a receipt of payment to the delinquent property holder.

**XX. IMMIGRATION LAWS**

Human Services acts in accordance with federal laws concerning assistance to immigrants.

**XXI. HUMAN SERVICES SIGNATURE REQUIREMENT FOR ASSISTANCE**

The application for General Assistance must be signed by all adult members of the household. When multiple adults comprise a household seeking General Assistance from the City, each adult member of the household must sign where required on the application and release forms. Unsigned documents constitute an incomplete application.

**XXII. INTERPRETATION AND APPLICABILITY OF GUIDELINES**

Human Services is empowered to interpret and implement these Guidelines so as to best effectuate their purpose. If necessary or desirable for Human Services to vary the application of the Guidelines in any individual case, such variation shall be approved, in advance, by the Human Services Manager.

## **XXIII. DEFINITIONS**

As used in these Guidelines, the following terms have the indicated meaning:

### **AGENCY**

Any health, social service, or other entity that provides services to a client. Any entity to which Human Services may refer to a client for additional resources and/or assistance.

### **“ALLOWABLE LEVEL OF ASSISTANCE”**

City of Keene established financial levels of support for housing, food, and utilities based on market conditions, the New Hampshire Department of Health & Human Services (NH DHHS) and the Department of Housing & Urban Development (HUD).

### **APPLICANT**

A person, who expresses a desire to receive General Assistance, or to have his /her eligibility for assistance reviewed, and has submitted a written application.

### **APPLICATION FORM**

Form obtained from Human Services upon which a written request for assistance or consideration for assistance is made. Such forms may be amended by Human Services as needed.

### **ARREARAGES**

Past due amounts on bills for basic needs (i.e., rent, utility bills); debts that remain after part of an overdue debt has been paid.

### **ASSETS**

All cash, real property, personal property, future interests, and anything else of value that is owned by the applicant.

### **ASSISTANCE**

Support given to applicants through a voucher program administered by Human Services in accordance with RSA 165.

### **AVAILABLE LIQUID ASSETS**

This includes but is not limited to: cash on hand, checking accounts, bank deposits, credit union accounts, stocks, bonds, securities, income tax refunds, IRA (Individual Retirement Account), 401K accounts, insurance policies with a loan value, and non-essential personal property. Such items are considered available liquid assets when they have been converted into cash. Income tax refunds may also be considered.

**CASE RECORD**

Official files containing forms, signed documents, correspondence, and narrative records pertaining to the application including determination of eligibility, reason for decision, and actions by Human Services, as well as kinds and amounts of assistance given. The case record may be kept electronically.

**CLAIMANT**

An applicant/recipient who has requested, whether in person or through an authorized representative, a Fair Hearing in accordance with the Guidelines.

**CLIENT**

A person utilizing services of a social service agency.

**COMPLIANCE**

Conformity in fulfilling official requests for information and requirements of City of Keene Human Services.

**ELIGIBILITY**

Determination by Human Services, in accordance with these Guidelines, of an applicant's/recipient's inability to support themselves, and therefore, the need for General Assistance.

**EMERGENCY**

A difficulty that, if not addressed immediately, would jeopardize the health and safety of an applicant/recipient or family member.

**FAIR HEARING**

A Hearing which the applicant/recipient may request to contest a denial, termination, or reduction of General Assistance. The Hearing will be held before an impartial Officer/Board who is appointed having no prior knowledge of the case.

**FAMILY UNIT**

Includes the applicant/recipient and persons residing with them in the relationship of father, mother, stepfather, stepmother, son, daughter, husband, or wife, and/or any adult (including an unrelated person) who resides with them *in loco parentis* (in the role of substitute parent) to a minor child. A person *in loco parentis* is one who intentionally accepts the rights and duties of a natural parent with respect to a child not his/her own and who has lived with the child long enough to form a psychological family. The term "family unit" is used to signify those persons financially responsible for one another by law and those requesting to be treated as such. However, when two unrelated, unmarried adults produce a child and are living together, Human Services considers them a "family

unit” with the adults also being financially responsible for each other unless than can document exceptional services.

### **GENERAL ASSISTANCE**

The term used for local welfare administered and funded by each New Hampshire municipality with locally established Guidelines in accordance with RSA 165.

### **HOUSEHOLD**

The total number of persons (related or unrelated) living together who share in or benefit from shelter/food/utility expenses. The individuals share living quarters, but are not financially liable for each other unless they request to be treated as such. Expenses, which are shared (rent, food, utilities, etc.) are divided pro rata for the purposes of calculating the applicant’s/recipient’s need based on the total number of persons in the household.

**However, the total housing cost must approximate the Allowable Level of Assistance Payments for the household size and # of bedrooms.** For example: three (3) unrelated adults share an apartment and one (1) applies for assistance; rental assistance is determined as one-third (1/3) of the total housing cost for three (3) people. The total housing cost for all three (3) must not exceed the Guideline amounts for a household of three (3).

### **HUD**

United States Department of Housing and Urban Development.

### **HUMAN SERVICES and HUMAN SERVICES OFFICIALS**

The official(s) of the City of Keene or designee(s) who perform the function of administering General Assistance. Such person(s) have the authority to make decisions regarding the granting of assistance under RSA 165, as identified in the Guidelines and “Allowable Level of Assistance” subject to the overall fiscal responsibility vested in the City Manager and City Council. The term includes “overseers of public welfare” (RSA 165:1) and “administrator of city welfare” (RSA 165:2).

### **INCOME**

Cash or in-kind earned by the applicant/recipient or any member of the household through wages, salary, commissions, or profit, whether self-employed or as an employee; contributions from relatives, friends, associates, or other household members if received by the applicant/recipient; state categorical assistance benefits: TANF, FANF, ANB, OAA, and OASDI payment, Social Security payments, VA benefits, unemployment insurance benefits, payment from other government sources (i.e., income tax); alimony and child support payments; payment from pension, trust funds, and similar programs.

**INDIGENT**

Impoverished person in financial need as identified in the General Assistance Guidelines.

**LIABILITY FOR SUPPORT**

Those persons deemed by New Hampshire law to have financial responsibility for anyone applying for General Assistance; for example, adult children for parents, parents for adult children, and husbands and wives for each other.

**MINOR**

A person who has not attained the age of eighteen (18) years. A minor's residence is always that of the custodial parent/legal guardian.

**NEED**

The basic maintenance and support requirements of an applicant/recipient as determined by Human Services utilizing the standards of these Guidelines.

**NHDHHS**

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services.

**NON-RESIDENT**

A person living temporarily in the City of Keene while his/her residence is elsewhere. Non-residency does not preclude General Assistance; however, assistance will be of a temporary and reasonable nature given his/her temporary status. Duplication of resources available will be avoided except in cases of emergency. Municipalities will be contacted for reimbursement.

**NOTICE OF DECISION**

Written grounds for approval, denial, or pending of an application detailing the amount and type of assistance issued, and/or the type of assistance pending further verification. Additionally, it contains the name, date, and time of applicant's next appointment if necessary, and a list of all the information to be provided by the applicant at the next request for assistance.

**PERMANENT RESIDENCE**

Abode or domicile occupied by an applicant. Permanent residency does not include temporary stays in shelters, residential treatment facilities, court ordered placements, or jail/prison.

**REAL PROPERTY**

Any property that is attached directly to land, as well as the land itself. Real property not only includes buildings and other structures, but also rights and interests. Real property can be either rental or residential.

**RECIPIENT**

A person who is receiving City of Keene General Assistance.

**REIMBURSEMENT**

Each recipient who becomes financially able must reimburse the City of Keene for assistance rendered when asked to do so. A schedule of repayment will be determined by Human Services, in conjunction with the recipient, taking into consideration all necessary current and future obligations. However, each recipient must understand that General Assistance reimbursement takes priority over all other expenses of less than a necessary nature as determined by Human Services. The City of Keene Human Services Department may also, as provided by State law, record a lien on real property or attach civil judgments in the amount of assistance rendered (RSA 165:28, 28-a).

**RELEASE OF INFORMATION**

Signed authorization to request and verify information necessary to determine eligibility for General Assistance.

**RESIDENCE**

Residence/residency will mean an applicant's/recipient's place of abode or domicile. The place of abode or domicile is that place designated by an applicant/recipient as their principal place of physical presence as defined by the Guidelines. Such resident/residency shall not be interrupted or lost by a temporary absence from it. RSA 165:1 (I); 21:6-a. If another municipality moves a client into the City of Keene, the sending municipality is responsible for the first thirty (30) days of support according to the New Hampshire Local Welfare Administrators Associations' ethics policy.

**RESIDENT**

A person whose principal place of abode or domicile is in Keene. A person participating in a residential program is a non-resident. See Shelter definition.

**ROOMMATE**

A person who is financially responsible for themselves and living with a recipient of General Assistance. Persons living together as domestic partners are considered a household.



**SHELTER**

A temporary housing provider through which an individual or family may seek emergency housing until permanent housing can be found. Under State statute, the following DO NOT interrupt the original residency of an applicant and do not establish a new residency:

- Shelter: homeless or transitional;
- Rehabilitation unit, half-way house, treatment facility;
- Hospitalization;
- Homelessness;
- Prison/jail, court ordered residence.

**SUSPENSION/SANCTION**

Cessation of General Assistance benefits due to non-compliance, misrepresentation, or falsification of documents.

**UTILITY**

Service(s) such as electric, gas, and oil for heat necessary to maintain the health and welfare of the household.

**VENDOR/PROVIDER**

Any property owner, utility company, store, or other business which provides goods or services needed by the applicant/recipient.

**VOUCHER**

A system to pay vendors and providers.

**WORKFARE**

The City of Keene Workfare Program provides opportunities for able bodied adults to work for the City at any job within the person's capacity. There are no wages paid. The participant's hours worked, at the rate of \$10.00 per hour, are used as reimbursement to the City for assistance received (RSA 165:2). Process outlined in Procedures Manual.

**XXIV. APPENDIX A**

**SAMPLE**

**ALLOWABLE LEVEL OF ASSISTANCE PAYMENTS FOR THE CITY OF KEENE**

Established by vote of Governing Body, date \_\_\_\_\_

**FOOD, HOT WATER & LIGHTS ALLOWANCE**  
**Department of Health and Human Services**

<b>Household Size</b>	<b>Monthly Food</b>	<b># of Bedrooms</b>	<b>Hot Water</b>	<b>Lights</b>	<b>Personal &amp; Household</b>
1	\$	0 Bdrm	\$	\$	\$
2		1 Bdrm			
3		2 Bdrm			
4		3 Bdrm			
5		4 Bdrm			
6					
7					
8					

**MONTHLY HOUSING ALLOWANCES**

Based on \_\_\_\_\_, information provided by Governing Body, date \_\_\_\_\_

<b>0 Bdrm</b>	<b>1 Bdrm</b>	<b>2 Bdrm</b>	<b>3 Bdrm</b>	<b>4 Bdrm</b>
\$	\$	\$	\$	\$

**MONTHLY HEATING ALLOWANCES**

Information provided by Governing Body, date \_\_\_\_\_

<b># of Bdrms</b>	<b>0</b>	<b>1</b>	<b>2</b>	<b>3</b>	<b>4</b>
<b>Electric</b>	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$
<b>Oil</b>	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$
<b>Natural Gas</b>	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$
<b>Bottled Gas</b>	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$

**BURIAL ALLOWANCE:** \$1,000.00

**TELEPHONE:** \$60.00

**MILEAGE RATE:** 53.5

**INTERNET ONLY:** \$50.00

**OTHER:** Such as childcare, medical, etc. verified by receipt.

## **XV. ESF-6, MASS CARE, HOUSING, AND HUMAN SERVICES**

**Lead Agency:** American Red Cross

**Support Agencies:** Emergency Management Director  
Fire Department  
Police Department  
Health/Code Department  
School Superintendent  
Public Works Department  
Human Services Department  
Parks Recreation and Facilities Department

### **A. Introduction**

#### **1. *Purpose***

To coordinate the provision of mass care, shelter, feeding and emergency first aid, following a disaster or other event requiring activation of this plan.

The purpose of Emergency Support Function #6 – Mass Care, Housing, and Human Services (ESF #6) is to provide information concerning Mass Care (human and household pet sheltering, feeding, and essential personal needs) during disasters or emergencies. ESF #6 is also concerned with the coordination of City resources to meet the basic human needs of mass care, emergency assistance, and human services to populations impacted before, during, and after an emergency situation when the needs may exceed those of local capabilities. ESF #6 includes the provision of sheltering household pets. Mass Care services are provided on a short-term basis, and when a more long-term approach is required, activities will move into Long Term Community Recovery plan.

#### **2. *Scope***

When ESF #6 is activated, resources will be provided through requests directly to the EOC when activated. The American Red Cross (ARC) is the Lead Agency for ESF #6, as it is recognized that in incidents that require state-provided sheltering and mass care activities, the ARC will play a significant role. The EMD coordinates and leads City resources to support the local government.

In the event of a disaster necessitating shelter, the City of Keene would require the assistance of the ARC. The ARC independently provides mass care to all disaster victims as part of a broad program of disaster relief, as outlined in charter provisions enacted by the United States Congress, Act of January 5, 1905, and the Disaster Relief Act of 1974. ARC also assumes lead agency responsibility under the Federal Response plan, to coordinate federal response assistance to the mass

care response of state and local governments, and the efforts of other voluntary agencies, including ARC relief operations.

## B. Situation and Planning Assumptions

The recommendation to evacuate people at risk during an emergency situation automatically requires that shelter spaces be made available and feeding operations for evacuees begin. There are shelters available as listed in Appendix E which, if unaffected by the emergency situation, could provide shelter space for its evacuees or a like number from an affected community nearby. If these buildings were affected, evacuees must be sheltered in another location.

There are other buildings that could be expediently upgraded to provide shelter. In the case of an emergency, the population would be advised to seek shelter in the best available facility.

### 1. *Situation*

- a. Disasters or emergencies requiring activation of ESF #6 are affected by a number of factors to include evacuation displacing large numbers of individuals, families, and household pets, as well as functional needs population groups (i.e., disabled, elderly, and children) who have lost their immediate support. This can include tourists, students, and foreign visitors separated from loved ones by a sudden-impact disaster or emergency necessitating the need to be evacuated from affected areas. The loss of real and essential personal property or economic hardships caused by a disaster or emergency may also trigger the need to activate programs identified in this Appendix.
- b. In most emergency or disaster situations, there may be a sudden and prolonged need of the public for protection from the effects of the emergency. Sheltering, emergency assistance, short-term housing, mass care and feeding, basic human services and household pet sheltering may be required. Dependent upon the resources immediately available and/or the proactive stance of local communities, careful coordination is needed to ensure needs are met for the total population affected.

## 2. *Planning Assumptions*

- a. It is increasingly probable that an incident will occur which will require activation (partial or complete) of ESF #6.
- b. The number in need of shelter and mass care services is scalable depending upon the emergency.
- c. Approximately 70% of all NH households own a pet; this percentage is likely to hold true for the residents of the City of Keene. This implies that during large-scale disasters, pet ownership may affect the behavior of large segments of the population at risk. Strong attachments also exist between farmers and their livestock.
- d. During an emergency, Volunteer NH DART will work with the City and/or the American Red Cross of NH to coordinate the activation and deactivation of household pet shelters.
- e. Facilities used as evacuation centers, respite centers, mass-feeding sites, and human/household pet shelters have been pre-identified by municipal, borough, or local jurisdictions, and may be supported by the American Red Cross NH.
- f. Careful planning and outreach to support agencies must be made in advance to meet any specialized requirements that are required when providing services to the general public. These may range from those who are language-challenged or require special diets to those who require personal assistance for daily activities.
- g. Through public education, animal owners will know how to prepare themselves and their household pets for an emergency/disaster situation.
- h. When area veterinary and animal care resources have been exhausted, assistance will be requested from the state.
- i. Service animals will stay with their handlers/owners in the local municipality or American Red Cross shelter.
- j. The ARC will coordinate with Volunteer NH to access support of other NGOs.
- k. The American Red Cross of NH, in support of ESF #6, will directly coordinate mass care efforts with local government.
- l. The American Red Cross Safe and Well System will be utilized as the means for family/household pet reunifications and welfare information during a disaster or incident requiring evaluations and large mass care sheltering.
- m. The ESF #6 representative and the EOC will be responsible for the coordination of services, collection, reporting, and dissemination of all ESF #6 activities.
- n. There may be instances when an affected area is/will be uninhabitable for short- or long-term periods.

- o. Emergency situations may require the provision of short-term warming shelters, mobile feeding, etc.
- p. Public on-hand food inventories separately will be inadequate and unsafe to meet the needs of the impacted populations.
- q. The needs of the responsible community in the field will also need to be met in order to ensure response capabilities are maintained.
- r. All sheltering activity, whether by the American Red Cross or independently, will be recorded and tracked (to the best of their ability) by the ESF #6 representative in the EOC in WebEOC.

### C. Concept of Operations

#### 1. *Policies*

The City of Keene will carry out emergency mass care of disaster victims. This may be accomplished through the fire and police departments, health department, social services department, and voluntary organizations such as churches or the local American Red Cross. A vital element of any disaster relief effort is the assistance provided to local government(s) by voluntary organizations in the distribution of food, medicine and supplies, the provision of emergency shelter, and the restoration of community services.

#### a. General

- i. The ARC has been designated as a lead agency responsible for mass care and shelter. State agencies have been designated to support the mass care foundation. Resources from the private sector will also be evaluated and applied to the response effort as appropriate.
- ii. The EOC will advise the public through the Emergency Alert System on the shelter location(s) and the procedures to follow when evacuating.
- iii. The Health/Code Department will monitor conditions in the shelters and make recommendations to assure the health and safety of shelterees.

#### b. Mass Care

- i. Sheltering, feeding, and emergency first aid activities will begin as soon as possible after the disaster occurrence (or before, if there is advance warning).
- ii. Mass Care services may not be available to relief workers for the first 72 hours.

## AMERICAN RED CROSS OF NH

The response by the American Red Cross of NH will be coordinated with City of Keene and the State of New Hampshire. The local American Red Cross district within the affected area will initiate mass care activities. Outside the district areas, the response will come from the ARC of NH Granite Chapter headquarters, located in Manchester, NH. To avoid duplication of services, response efforts will be coordinated through ESF #6 and the ARC liaison located at the State EOC.

- **Sheltering:** Providing emergency shelter for disaster victims and their household pets, including the use of pre-identified shelter sites or local shelter operations.
- **Emergency Feeding:** Feeding will be provided to disaster victims and emergency workers through a combination of fixed sites, mobile feeding units, and bulk distribution of food.
- **Safe and Well:** The American Red Cross will continue to concentrate its Welfare Information efforts on publicly promoting communications from inside the disaster-affected area to outside the affected area. Helping disaster victims initiate contact with family members and loved ones enables the American Red Cross to provide welfare information to many more people outside the affected area.
- **Joint Information Center:** The American Red Cross will support the local government, State, or federal Joint Information Center (JIC) to provide disaster-affected clients with information to assist in their recovery.

### Additional Policies

1. Actions initiated under ESF #6 are coordinated and conducted cooperatively with State and local incident management officials and with private entities, through the EDOC and SEOC, if activated. Each Supporting Agency is responsible for managing its respective assets and resources after receiving direction from the ESF #6 Lead Agency.
2. Action taken during an emergency are guided by and coordinated with State and local emergency preparedness and response officials, U.S. Department of Homeland Security (DHS) officials, appropriate federal agencies, and existing agency internal policies and procedures.
3. The organizations providing support for each incident coordinate with appropriate ESFs and other agencies, to ensure appropriate use of volunteers and their health

and safety and to ensure appropriate measures are in place to protect the health and safety of all workers.

4. Each Support Agency is responsible for managing its respective assets and resources after receiving direction from the Lead Agency.

## 2. *Notification and Reporting*

The Emergency Management Director will be notified as soon as possible upon receipt of information on any emergency situation that might affect the community. The EMD will then decide on whether to alert the other emergency response organizations or not, based on the information received.

The EMD is responsible for notifying local and state agencies and the ARC that a major disaster has occurred or is imminent and may result in activation of the response procedure as described in the plan. Upon notification of full activation of the plan, the EMD will inform ESF-Mass Care & Shelter support agencies and the local Chapter of the ARC of plan implementation and share information about what has occurred and initial response actions.

### a. Notification

- i. The EMD will be notified that an incident has occurred, or has the potential to occur, that threatens or impacts an area of the City of Keene. The EMD will gather information for on-going situational awareness and notify ESFs, as appropriate.
- ii. The EMD will make the decision to activate the EOC and determine level of activation.
- iii. If EOC activation is determined to be necessary, the EMD will notify the ESF Lead Agency of the activation and request designated personnel to report to the EOC or to remain on stand-by.
- iv. The Lead Agency will then notify the appropriate ESF Support Agencies and determine coverage/duty roster for the ESF desk in the EOC. WebEOC will be utilized to provide continuous situational awareness.
- v. All ESF agencies will make appropriate notifications to their appropriate regions, districts, or local offices.
- vi. The above notification process will be utilized for all phases of activation and activities in which the ESF will be involved.



b. Event Reporting

- i. Event and position logs should be maintained and by each ESF agency in sufficient detail to provide historical data on activities taken during the event.
- ii. Agencies are also expected to keep their Lead Agency updated upon all activities and actions.
- iii. The Lead Agency will be responsible for making periodic reports to their Sections on activities taken by the ESF, in total, during the event and ensure they are properly documented.
- iv. All financial reporting will be done through the ESF Lead Agency on behalf of their Support Agencies. All financial management documents must comply with standard accounting procedures and applicable agency, state and federal guidelines, rules, standards, and laws.

3. Deactivation

Partial deactivation would occur based upon the extent of the current response and recovery actions and at the discretion of the EMD. Full deactivation would occur at the termination of the operational elements at the local EOC.

D. Roles and Responsibilities

**The American Red Cross will:**

- Coordinate shelter operations.
- Coordinate with the EMD on the specific shelter requests.
- Notify local and state agencies of shelter needs.
- Develop and maintain a shelter plan.
- Identify and secure permission of those buildings to be designated as shelters.
- Obtain shelter supplies necessary for Shelter operations.

**The Emergency Management will:**

- Advise the American Red Cross on the shelter needs of the community.

**The Fire Department will:**

- Advise on the safety of the shelter facilities.
- Provide emergency medical treatment and transport on request for evacuees during shelter operations.
- Coordinate with the Health/Code Department on the health safety of the shelters.

**The Police Department will:**

- Provide security at the shelters, as personnel are available.

**The Health/Code Department will:**

- Inspect the health safety aspects of shelters.

**The School Superintendent will:**

- Prepare the schools for sheltering.
- Make available on-hand food supplies.
- Provide available personnel, as available, for registering evacuees.

**The Public Works Department will:**

- Assist the EMD in the implementation of this ESF.

**The Human Services Department will:**

- Assist the American Red Cross and the general public with human service provider contact information.

**The Parks Recreation and Facilities Department will:**

- Assist in the implementation of this ESF.

E. References

1. *Plans*

American Red Cross NH State Disaster Plan

2. *Standard Operating Procedures/Guides (SOPs/SOGs)*

None



# CITY OF KEENE

R-2018-04

In the Year of Our Lord Two Thousand and ..... Eighteen

RELATING TO COUNCIL POLICY: GUIDELINES FOR GENERAL ASSISTANCE

A RESOLUTION .....

*Resolved by the City Council of the City of Keene, as follows:*

WHEREAS: Each New Hampshire municipality is mandated under NH RSA 165 to provide General Assistance; and

WHEREAS: General Assistance Guidelines must be adopted by the City Council to administer general assistance fairly, confidentially and with impartiality to all applicants; and

WHEREAS: said Guidelines must be reviewed regularly to include criteria for levels of assistance based on local conditions; as well as establish criteria for determining eligibility; the application process, and an appeal process to meet the basic necessities of life such as food, shelter and burial; and

WHEREAS: the City Council adopted "General Assistance Guidelines" for the City of Keene, New Hampshire, on August 18, 2011; and

WHEREAS: There is a need to further update and amend the Guidelines;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Keene that R-2011-27 be rescinded and the Guidelines, entitled "*City of Keene Human Services General Assistance Guidelines*" and dated January 25, 2018 be adopted.

\_\_\_\_\_  
Kendall W. Lane, Mayor



*Transmittal Form*

January 2, 2018

**TO:** Mayor and Keene City Council

**FROM:** Councilors Greenwald and Richards

**THROUGH:** Patricia A. Little, City Clerk

**ITEM:** 8.

**SUBJECT:** Councilors Greenwald and Richards - CIP Adjustments Due to Receipt of State of New Hampshire Grant Funds

---

**COUNCIL ACTION:**

In City Council January 18, 2018.

Referred to the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee.

**ATTACHMENTS:**

Description

Communication - Councilors Greenwald and Richards

**BACKGROUND:**

Councilors Greenwald and Richards are recommending adjustments to the CIP program to recognize the State of New Hampshire grant funds received.

In City Council January 18, 2018.  
Referred to the Finance, Organization and Personnel  
Committee.

  
City Clerk

Date: January 2, 2018

To: Mayor and City Council of Keene NH

From: Councilors Mitchell Greenwald and David Richards

Re: CIP adjustments due to receipt of State of New Hampshire grant funds.

Due to the grant funding recently received from the State of New Hampshire, we have the opportunity to reassess the effect this has had on the CIP projected projects in the coming year.

As two projects were moved up this leaves a gap in the 2019 CIP projects budget.

We would like to suggest three possible avenues to address this for your consideration.

- 1) Reallocate the projected funds to create new economic development or move up existing projects from the CIP for the purpose of economic development in the Marlboro St corridor.
- 2) Allocate  $\frac{1}{2}$  of the projected investment from the CIP to promote economic development in the Marlboro St corridor and use  $\frac{1}{2}$  of the projected funds to reduce bond indebtedness.
- 3) Use all of projected funds to reduce bond indebtedness.

As economic development and bond indebtedness are two topics the council has been working on, we feel this is the best time to have this discussion.

Thank you



Mitchell Greenwald – Chair, Finance, Organization, and Personnel Committee



David Richards – Chair, Planning, Licenses, and Development Committee



City of Keene, N.H.  
*Transmittal Form*

December 15, 2017

**TO:** Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee

**FROM:** Donald R. Lussier, P.E., City Engineer

**THROUGH:** Elizabeth A. Dragon, City Manager

**ITEM:** 9.

**SUBJECT:** Authority to Borrow - Clean Water State Revolving Fund - Public Works Department

---

**RECOMMENDATION:**

Move that the Finance Organization and Personnel Committee recommend that the City Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to apply for, accept, and execute a loan from the New Hampshire "Clean Water State Revolving Fund" (CWSRF) in an amount not to exceed \$120,000.

**BACKGROUND:**

The City Council's Fiscal Policies for FY 2018 included a goal for the City to "develop, implement, and refine capital asset management programs" to guide the long term stewardship of the City's infrastructure.

In order to advance this goal, the Public Works Department submitted "Pre-Applications" for a program offered by the New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services (NHDES). The Clean Water State Revolving Fund (CWSRF) allows for municipalities to borrow funds to pay for the development of asset management plans for sewer and storm water assets. Upon successful completion, the borrower is entitled to principal forgiveness of up to \$30,000 per phase.

In October 2017, the City received notification that it had been approved for three (3) "phases" of asset management planning; two (2) for our sanitary system and one (1) for our enclosed storm drains. Therefore, we are currently eligible for up to \$90,000 in principal forgiveness.

In November of 2017, the NHDES announced a second round of applications for funding under this program. Public Works responded with a pre-application to develop an asset management plan for our open drainage ditches. If approved, this would give the City access to an additional \$30,000 in principal forgiveness.

One of the requirements of the program, is documentation that the applicant has the authority to borrow the full value of the loan (regardless of the anticipated principal forgiveness). Therefore, it is recommended that the City Council authorize the City Manager to complete the required application forms and borrow up to \$120,000 from the CWSRF.



City of Keene, N.H.  
*Transmittal Form*

January 11, 2018

**TO:** Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee

**FROM:** Duncan Watson, Assistant Public Works Director/Solid Waste Manager

**THROUGH:** Elizabeth A. Fox, Acting City Manager

**ITEM:** 10.

**SUBJECT:** Municipal Solar Array 350-400 Marlboro Street - Public Works Department

---

**RECOMMENDATION:**

Move that the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommend the City Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to negotiate with the two finalists as recommended in the City's solar consultant decision matrix to provide renewable energy for City of Keene facilities at a cost equal to or below expected utility prices for electrical services and that the most appropriate agreement be brought forward for consideration.

**ATTACHMENTS:**

Description

Solar Project

**BACKGROUND:**

In February 2017 the City of Keene issued Request For Proposal (RFP) # 02-17-12 seeking qualifications and business development proposals to design, build, operate, maintain and eventually decommission a municipal solar array(s) to be located on City owned land through a Power Purchase Agreement or pursuant to the New Hampshire Group Net Metering statute, RSA 362-A.

Several sites were listed in the RFP as potential locations for potential solar arrays. Various criteria were used to evaluate each site including: size of the site, exposure to the sun, access to 3 phase power grid, ease of development, permitting requirements, security, visibility and ability to connect to existing City facilities (if applicable). Based on these criteria the following sites were included in the RFP:

- § Airport property
- § Wastewater Treatment Facility
- § Keene Police/Public Works
- § Monadnock View Cemetery
- § Solid Waste Facility



The City Solar Evaluation Team, consisting of Rhett Lamb, Assistant City Manager/Planning Director, Kurt Blomquist, Public Works Director, Andy Bohannon, Parks, Recreation, and Facilities, Director, and Terry Clark, City Councilor, evaluated four proposals that were received. All the four firms were brought in for interview. Three of the vendors who responded to the RFP proposed to construct solar array(s), and one vendor responded with a different approach. This vendor proposed to install a solar array in the City of Keene and then provide renewable power through some type of power purchase agreement from solar arrays located outside the area. All the proposals initially quoted prices for energy that were equal to or less than projected utility provided energy costs. The Solar Evaluation Team felt that further exploration of the renewable energy market was warranted. The City engaged an energy consulting firm to assist the Solar Evaluation team in selecting the best option(s), and the making of recommendations on the contracting with an energy generator(s)/supplier(s).

The City contracted with Correlate, a firm that specializes in evaluation of energy proposals, to assist the Solar Evaluation Team to identify other regional renewable energy generators/suppliers and evaluate the energy costs of those options in comparison to the pricing proposed by the RFP respondents. Correlate was tasked with preparing a decision matrix and recommendations whereby the City could purchase renewable power at a cost equal to or below expected prices for electrical services.

Correlate produced a decision matrix (Correlate's Executive Summary of the results of their analysis for the 350-400 Marlboro Street project, attached) that indicated the City's first solar array project should be pursued at the 350-400 Marlboro Street location. Because of the specific expertise Correlate brings to the complex world of municipal solar projects, the City will continue to engage the services of Correlate to work with staff on the final two recommended vendors. It is intended that the City will negotiate with each of the final two proposals and bring back to City Council for consideration the best proposal for the City. It is anticipated that an agreement can be crafted for consideration by City Council in March 2018 and an authorization to proceed granted in April 2018 with solar array installation complete by December 2018.

## Executive Summary: City of Keene Solar Project

As described in the recommendation memo, Correlate was retained to evaluate solar proposals for the City of Keene Solar Project Team. After review of the proposals, interviews with respondents, and evaluation of final proposals, we believe it is in the best interest of the city to move forward with a solar project at the 350-400 Marlboro street site.

Based on the Correlate team's decades long experience in the US solar energy market, we are confident a Power Purchase Agreement for this site is a low risk way to generate utility bill savings and environmental benefits, while stimulating the local economy and demonstrating that renewable energy is a cost effective way to hedge against future electricity market volatility.

As the finalist offer prices are currently below what the city can procure commodity electricity, this project will generate immediate savings the day the system is activated. The historical trend is for electricity prices to increase over time, and securing a 20 year fixed price for electricity will provide an important hedge against future price uncertainty and risk. In addition, this project creates value by providing certainty, and the ability to budget and forecast energy costs well into the future. Finally, because the city is only responsible for purchasing electricity produced by the installation, the solar provider will bear any performance concerns based on operation and maintenance of the system.

This project is an opportunity to demonstrate that clean energy can also be cost effective while generating environmental benefits. To paraphrase one of the respondents; The project will generate an estimated 1,738,660 kilowatt hours (kWh) of clean solar electricity per year, helping to reduce the City of Keene's energy costs and eliminate roughly 1,830,809 lbs. of greenhouse gas (CO<sub>2</sub>) emissions annually. While the exact system size and solar energy generation may change slightly from initial design to final permitting and engineering, this project is a great way to create environmental and economic benefits for the city.

The following sections describe our analysis and process used to reach the conclusion that it is worthwhile for the city to move forward with final evaluation and development at the Marlboro street facility. Section I is the Decision Matrix which describes the criteria used to evaluate the respondent proposals. Section II is a savings analysis used to quantify forecasted savings.

## Section I: Decision Matrix

Bidder	Pricing – Marlboro Roof (\$/kWh)	Avoided Cost of Electricity \$/kWh	2019 Price Forecast \$/kWh	Local Presence	MW Installed/ Operational	MW in Development	Group Metering Experience	Company Formed	Recommendation
<b>NH Solar Gardens</b>	~\$.067	\$.082	\$.0	1	6MW/10 projects	96MW	1	2014	Final Interview:
<b>ReVision Energy</b>	\$.077	\$.082		2	35MW 1,000 projects	2.4MW	3	2003	Final Interview:
ESA Solar	~\$.080	\$.082		4	450MW/ 310 projects	150MW	2	2002	#3
Norwich Technologies	\$.089 - .095	\$.082		3	NA	NA	4	2011	#4

Based on the review criteria and scoring formula provided to the Solar Project Team, Respondents NH Solar Gardens and ReVision energy shall be invited to hold final interviews with the city to move forward with development of a solar project. The next page highlights the proposed savings from the two Finalists and the final section describes the savings analysis used in this evaluation and recommendation.



City of Keene, N.H.  
*Transmittal Form*

January 18, 2018

**TO:** Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee

**FROM:** Donald R. Lussier, P.E., City Engineer

**THROUGH:** Elizabeth A. Fox, Acting City Manager

**ITEM:** 11.

**SUBJECT:** Construction and Engineering Services Change Orders - Babbidge Reservoir Dam Improvements Project - Public Works Department

---

**RECOMMENDATION:**

- Move that the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommend that the City Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to negotiate and execute a construction change order with Kingsbury Companies, LLC of Waitsfield, VT in an amount not to exceed \$297,454.72 for the Babbidge Reservoir Dam Improvements Project.
- Further, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommend that the City Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to negotiate and execute a change order with Dubois and King, Inc. of Randolph, VT in an amount not to exceed \$70,688 for additional technical and construction phase services associated with the Babbidge Reservoir Dam Improvements Project.

**BACKGROUND:**

The City received bids for the Babbidge Reservoir construction project on May 9, 2017. The project was advertised in early April to allow work to begin early in the construction season. The New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services (NHDES) Dam Bureau did not approve the project's final "Permit to Reconstruct a Dam" until July 28, 2017. The final NHDES Dam permit required a number of changes to the design that the City had received bids on and included:

- Additional clearing and excavation
- Substantial additional quantities of stone fill
- Changes to the design that increased the quantities of structural concrete (spillway walls, etc.)
- Additional water stops between structural components
- Relocating components of the City's water system intake
- Installing turf reinforcement in the "auxiliary spillway"
- A more labor-intensive method for connecting the concrete block surface to the concrete structures

These new requirements added to the cost of the project and increased the duration of the project by approximately 3 months. Since receiving the additional requirements from the State, City staff and the construction contractor have worked collaboratively to value-engineer certain portions of the project to reduce the impact of the changes. For example, the existing gate house will be protected in-place and the Contractor will remove and replace the roof. This change will result in a \$41,000 savings.

The Kingsbury Companies' bid for the project was approximately \$400,000 less than the next lowest bidder. With the revisions to the project design, the project will still cost less than the next lowest bid received for the original project scope.

The additional work will result in a longer construction duration, the on-site inspection services being performed by Dubois & King will also need to be extended. The NHDES Dam Bureau requires full-time construction inspection of dam reconstruction. The Council approved a contract in June 2017 that was based on the original anticipated construction duration. The requested change order will cover engineering costs associated with the extra time.

The total project cost, including the original contracts for construction and engineering services as well as the recommended change orders will be below the project budget (05034) authorized in the FY17 Capital Improvement Program.



City of Keene, N.H.  
*Transmittal Form*

December 18, 2017

**TO:** Mayor and Keene City Council

**FROM:** Donald R. Lussier, P.E., City Engineer

**THROUGH:** Elizabeth A. Dragon, City Manager

**ITEM:** 12.

**SUBJECT:** A Resolution Relating to the Acceptance of an Additional Appropriation of Highway Block Grant Funds

---

**COUNCIL ACTION:**

In City Council December 21, 2017.

Mayor set a Public Hearing for Thursday, January 18, 2018 at 7:05 PM.

Referred to the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee.

**RECOMMENDATION:**

That Resolution R-2017-44, Relating to the Acceptance of an Additional Appropriation of Highway Block Grant Funds, be referred to the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee for consideration with a recommendation back to City Council.

**ATTACHMENTS:**

Description

Letter from NHDRA regarding acceptance of SB38

Resolution R-2017-44

**BACKGROUND:**

The New Hampshire Legislature adopted and the Governor signed Senate Bill 38, providing additional funds to municipalities for local highway improvements. The City's share of this funding will be \$417,356.69.

Because the grant was unanticipated and exceeds \$10,000, RSA 31-95-b requires the governing body to hold a public hearing and vote to accept the funds.



**State of New Hampshire  
Department of Revenue Administration**

109 Pleasant Street  
PO Box 487, Concord, NH 03302-0487  
Telephone (603) 230-5000  
www.revenue.nh.gov



John T. Beardmore  
Commissioner

MUNICIPAL AND PROPERTY  
DIVISION  
Stephan W. Hamilton  
Director

Lindsey M. Stepp  
Assistant Commissioner

July 27, 2017

Judy A. Silva, Executive Director  
New Hampshire Municipal Association  
25 Triangle Park Drive  
Concord, New Hampshire 03301

Josephine Belville  
Assistant Director

RE: SB 38 additional appropriation of Highway Block Grant Funds

Dear Ms. Silva:

Thank you for your recent inquiry regarding the additional appropriation of Highway Block Grant Funds made by the legislature in adopting Senate Bill 38. The Department of Revenue understands that this action has inspired a number of questions which I hope can be answered with the following information:

- The provisions of SB 38 include specific language that allows municipalities to accept and expend these funds under the process provided in RSA 31:95-b regardless of whether they have adopted this local option provision;
- There are specific procedural requirements for accepting that include:
  1. Pursuant to RSA 31:95-b, II (a) the board of selectmen is required to hold a public hearing if the amount of the funds received is \$10,000 or greater;
  2. For amounts less than \$10,000 "the board of selectmen shall post notice of the funds in the agenda and shall include notice in the minutes of the board of selectmen meeting in which such moneys are discussed." See RSA 31:95-b, II (b); and,
  3. "The acceptance of unanticipated moneys under this subparagraph shall be made in public session of any regular board of selectmen meeting." See RSA 31:95-b, II (b). (Emphasis added).
- RSA 32:7, IV, provides that money from a state grant for a specific purpose is non-lapsing;
- The money being provided to the municipalities are additional grants under RSA 235:23, I;
- RSA 235:25, provides in pertinent part that, ". . . the unused balance may be carried over to the following municipal fiscal year and expended for highway construction, reconstruction or maintenance purposes." (Emphasis added);
- This amount of additional grant should not be reported as "Highway Block Grant Revenue" on the municipalities 2017 MS-434 Report of Revised Estimated Revenue;
- As dedicated grant funds, the additional grant will not become part of the unassigned fund balance; and,
- Cities and towns are encouraged to inquire of their accountant or accounting firm to determine the appropriate fund where the money will be placed.

Please let me know if you have any further questions or concerns, and please feel free to circulate this letter to your members.

Sincerely,

Stephan W. Hamilton, Director  
Municipal and Property Division

TDD Access: Relay NH 1-800-735-2964

*Individuals who need auxiliary aids for effective communication in programs and services of the Department of Revenue Administration are invited to make their needs and preferences known to the Department.*



# CITY OF KEENE

In the Year of Our Lord Two Thousand and Seventeen

A RESOLUTION Relating to the Acceptance of an Additional Appropriation of Highway Block Grant Funds

*Resolved by the City Council of the City of Keene, as follows:*

WHEREAS: In recognition of the need for improvements to local transportation systems, Governor Sununu and the New Hampshire Legislature adopted Senate Bill 38, which has provided an additional \$30 million to be distributed to the State's 234 municipalities for local highway aid; and

WHEREAS: The City of Keene's portion of these funds will be \$417,356.69; and

WHEREAS: RSA 31-95-b requires that unanticipated funds in excess of \$10,000 be accepted only after public hearing and vote of the municipalities governing body; and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of Keene hereby authorizes the City Manager to accept the unanticipated funds provided by Senate Bill 38; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Council of Keene hereby authorizes the City Manager to do all things necessary to expend said funds for the purposes intended and in general accordance with the "FY18 Supplemental Road Improvements" program as presented by Public Works to the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee on October 26, 2017.

\_\_\_\_\_  
Kendall W. Lane, Mayor

In City Council December 21, 2017.  
Public Hearing set for Thursday, January 18, 2018 at 7:05 PM.  
Referred to the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee.

  
City Clerk